
PLEASE ARRIVE 15 MINUTES EARLIER THAN YOUR SCHEDULED TIME

PRELIMINARY
8:30 CALL TO ORDER

QUORUM PRESENT
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
APPROVAL OF AGENDA
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 2‐5‐13

ACCEPTANCE OF BILLS  

Approval of County Vouchers/Warrants
Approval of Monthly Reports
Approval of Bonds
Approval of Abates/Rebates

BUDGET AMENDMENT‐ GRANTS

COMMISSIONER COMMENTS/REPORTS
8:40

COUNTY RESIDENT CONCERNS
9:30

ACTION/PRESENTATION ITEMS 
9:40 Honoring Search & Rescue's 50th Anniversary

9:55 Request Approval of the County Wide Consensus
Block Grant Joint Resolution (#SWBFY13/14‐1)

10:00 Approval of the Fiscal Year 2012 Audit Report

10:05 BCBS of Wyoming ASO Plan Change

10:10 Request to Re‐Staff Vacant Position

10:15 Approval of MOU with Carbon County for 
Housing Juveniles in the SWCO Detention Center

Tentative and Subject to Change

NOTICE ‐ SWEETWATER COUNTY
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS

WILL MEET IN REGULAR SESSION
Tuesday, February 19, 2013 at 8:30 a.m.

Commissioners Meeting Room



10:20 Presentation for the Town of Wamsutter and the
Consideration of Filming "Communities of 
Distinction" with Terry Bradshaw's Hidden Gem
Series

OTHER
10:35

EXECUTIVE SESSION(S) AS NEEDED

ADJOURN



February 5, 2013 

Green River, WY 
 

The Board of County Commissioners met this day at 8:30 a.m. in Regular Session with all commissioners 
present with the exception of Commissioner West who had been excused and would be present at approximately 
10:00 a.m.  The meeting opened with the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Approval of Agenda 
 

 Chairman Johnson entertained a motion to approve the agenda.  Commissioner Van Matre moved to 
approve the agenda as presented.  Commissioner Kolb seconded the motion.  With no discussion, the motion 
was approved unanimously.  
 
Approval of Minutes 1-15-13 
  

Commissioner Kolb moved to approve the minutes.  Commissioner Bailiff seconded the motion.  With 
no discussion, the motion was approved unanimously.   
 
Acceptance of Bills 
 
 Approval of County Vouchers/Warrants, Monthly Reports, Bonds and Abates/Rebates 

Following discussion relative to the bonds, Chairman Johnson entertained a motion to approve the county 
vouchers/warrants, monthly reports, bonds and abates/rebates.  Commissioner Kolb moved to approve the 
county vouchers/warrants, monthly statements, bonds and the abates/rebates.  Commissioner Van 
Matre seconded the motion.  With no discussion, the motion was approved unanimously.   
 

WARR# NAME DEPT  TOTAL 

      Salaries (Net) 
 

912,614.49 
52705 Bank Of The West Gen Accts           397.40 
52787 Bridger Valley Electric Assn Farson R & B           173.62 

8 Centurylink Commiss, Clk, Treas, Assess, 
Juv Prob, Grants Proj, IT Dept, 
Clk Dist Crt, GR Fcl Mt CH, 
Land Use, Flt Veh Main, 
RS Off Bld A, Fire Marshal        1,151.03 

9 Centurylink Shrf, Co Atrny, GR Cir Court, 
IT Dept, Road & Bridg, Elect, 
Comm Dev&Eng, Human Resour, 
Purchasing, Grants Admin, 
Shrf Emg Mgt, Comm Nur-Hom        2,760.49 

52790 Centurylink Elect             24.80 
1 Centurylink Shrf             70.95 
2 Hasler Gen Co Admin           430.50 
3 Home Depot Credit Service GR Fcl Mt CH, Shrf Dtn Mnt           703.28 
4 Home Depot Credit Service GR Fcl Mt CH, Shrf Dtn Mnt           784.22 
5 Paetec Commiss, Clk, Treas, Assess, Shrf, 

Co Atrny, Juv Prob, Grants Proj, 
GR Cir Court, IT Dept, Coroner, 
Land Use, Clk Dist Crt           292.80 

6 Paetec GR Fcl Mt CH, Road & Bridg, 
Flt Veh Main, Elect, Comm 
Dev&Eng, 
Human Resour, Purchasing, 
Grants Admin, RS Off Bld A, 
Shrf Emg Mgt, Fire Marshal, 
Comm Nur-Hom           317.26 

7 Payment Remittance Center Coop Ext/4H, Shrf Dtn Mnt, 
Purchasing           330.98 

8 Payment Remittance Center GR Fcl Mt CH             76.00 
9 Payment Remittance Center GR Fcl Mt CH, Elect, IT Dept, 

Commiss, Comm Dev&Eng           777.54 
52800 Payment Remittance Center Elect, GR Fcl Mt CH, IT Dept, 

Commiss, Land Use, Grants Proj, 
Co Atrny, Coroner        5,047.54 

1 Payment Remittance Center Coroner             23.43 
2 Purchase Power Shrf Dtn Mnt             25.44 
3 Rocky Mtn Power Comm Dev&Eng             24.62 
4 Union Telephone Company Inc Co Atrny, Clk, Shrf Emg Mgt, 

Grants Admin, Assess, Road & 
Bridg, 
Clk Dist Crt, GR Fcl Mt CH, 
Vet Services, Commiss, Shrf           324.84 

5 Union Telephone Company Inc Assess, Commiss, IT Dept, Coroner, 
Fire Marshal, Comm Dev&Eng, 
Land Use, Purchasing, Juv Prob, 
Coop Ext/4H        1,676.97 

6 Union Telephone Company Inc GR Fcl Mt CH, Shrf Dtn Mnt, 
Road & Bridg, Shrf        3,984.15 

7 Verizon Wireless Shrf, Shrf Emg Mgt, Fire Marshal, 
Vet Services, IT Dept, Commiss, 
Elect, Co Atrny        1,012.29 



8 Wex Bank Flt Veh Main        2,859.20 
9 Wyoming Dept Of Workforce Shrf Dtn Mnt, Shrf Emg Mgt           133.66 

52810 Wyoming Waste Services - RS Rd & Brdg           156.73 
1 Alpha Petroleum Service  Road & Bridg      18,062.82 
2 Amazon Co Atrny, Shrf, Comm Dev&Eng           178.37 
3 Capital Business Systems Shrf Emg Mgt               6.99 
4 Centurylink Clk, Treas, Assess, Shrf, Co Atrny, 

Juv Prob, Grants Proj, GR Fcl Mt 
CH, 
RS Off Bld A, Land Use, 
Flt Veh Main, Fire Marshal, Coroner           660.90 

5 Centurylink Commiss, GR Cir Court, IT Dept, 
Clk Dist Crt, Road & Bridg, Elect, 
Comm Dev&Eng, Human Resour, 
Purchasing, Grants Admin, 
Vet Services, Comm Nur-Hom        1,071.67 

6 Centurylink Shrf Emg Mgt           277.70 
7 Chemical Testing Program Grants Proj           483.00 
8 Questar Gas RS Rd & Brdg, RS Veh Maint, 

Shrf Dtn Mnt, RS Mnt/C Pur, 
RS 333 Bdwy, Facil 731C C, 
RS Off Bld A, JV 731 Bld D, 
Thmpsn Bld b, Thmpsn Bld A      17,541.61 

9 Rocky Mtn Power GR Fcl Mt CH, RS Veh Maint, 
Thmpsn Bld A, JV 731 Bld D, 
RS 333 Bdwy, Att Bld 731C        2,861.27 

52820 Satcom Global Fze Coroner           136.32 
1 Sweetwater Television Co Shrf Emg Mgt             47.45 
2 Walmart Community/Gecrb-P Road & Bridg             48.76 
3 Walmart Community/Gecrb-S Shrf Dtn Mnt           787.02 
4 Walmart Community/Gecrb-S Shrf Dtn Mnt           333.96 
5 Wells Fargo Shrf, Shrf Dtn Mnt           947.62 

52826 West Side Water & Sewer Dist RS Mnt/C Pur, Shrf Dtn Mnt        2,199.50 
52881 Aflac Gen Accts        2,386.00 

2 Aflac - Group Gen Accts        3,807.43 
3 Axa Equitable Gen Accts           300.00 
4 Bank Of The West Gen Accts    343,773.27 
5 Cigna Gen Accts, Employee Ben, 

Human Resour, Human Svcs           326.09 
6 Cigna Gen Accts        4,289.88 
7 Cigna Gen Accts, Employee Ben        6,656.27 
8 Colonial Life & Accident Gen Accts           108.20 
9 Family Financial Educate Gen Accts           361.00 

52890 Great-West Life & Annuity Gen Accts      12,841.66 
1 Sweetwater County Insurance Gen Accts, Employee Ben    249,230.92 
2 Sweetwater County Section Gen Accts        8,303.24 
3 Sweetwater Federal Gen Accts        4,380.00 
4 United Way Gen Accts             10.00 
5 Valic Gen Accts        6,257.00 
6 Vision Service Plan Gen Accts, Employee Ben        4,115.15 
7 Waddell & Reed Inc Gen Accts        3,613.33 
8 Wyoming Dept Of Workforce Gen Accts, Clk      22,140.48 
9 Wyoming Retirement System Gen Accts    181,168.88 

52900 Wyoming Retirement System Shrf           764.40 
1 058-Ncpers Group Life Ins Gen Accts        1,824.00 
2 Capital Business Systems Road & Bridg, Shrf Emg Mgt           555.86 
3 Centurylink Assess, Co Atrny, Grants Proj, 

GR Cir Court, GR Fcl Mt CH, 
Flt Veh Main, Human Resour, 
Purchasing, Grants Admin, Land 
Use, 
RS Off Bld A, Comm Nur-Hom        1,298.69 

4 Centurylink Commiss, Clk, Treas, Shrf, Juv Prob, 
IT Dept, Coop Ext/4H, Clk Dist Crt, 
Road & Bridg, Elect, Comm 
Dev&Eng, 
Shrf Emg Mgt, Fire Marshal        3,850.73 

5 Centurylink Commiss, Clk, Treas, Assess, Shrf, 
Co Atrny, Juv Prob, Grants Proj, 
GR Cir Court, IT Dept, Land Use, 
Clk Dist Crt, GR Fcl Mt CH           351.96 

6 Centurylink 
Road & Bridg, Elect, Comm 
Dev&Eng, 
Grants Admin, Shrf Emg Mgt, 
Vet Services, Human Resour, 
Purchasing, Comm Nur-Hom           293.40 

7 Division Of Criminal Inve Employee Ben             30.00 
8 Rocky Mtn Power RS Off Bld A, GR Rd & Brdg, 

GR JV Maint, GR Cir Court, 
GR Fcl Mt CH, GR Wrhs Main      11,852.58 

9 Verizon Wireless Fire Marshal, Shrf        1,795.36 
52910 Wyoming Department Of Shrf Dtn Mnt           514.60 
52913 Accreditation Audit & Risk Shrf Dtn Mnt           530.00 

4 Ace Hardware #11263-C Road & Bridg             82.29 
5 Advanced Medical Imaging Shrf Dtn Mnt        1,276.00 



6 Affiliated Benefits Intr Gv Pool        1,322.00 
7 Allen, Cheryl Vet Services           220.53 
8 Allied Glass Inc Shrf Dtn Mnt           192.00 
9 Alpine Pure Water Co Atrny           128.00 

52920 Arnell Jr., Gary B. Clk Dist Crt           980.00 
1 Arnell Jr., Gary B. Clk Dist Crt        2,840.00 
2 Arnell Jr., Gary B. Clk Dist Crt        4,070.00 
3 Arnell Jr., Gary B. Clk Dist Crt        6,310.00 
4 Autospa Inc GR Fcl Mt CH             28.56 
5 Bates, Norman E Shrf Dtn Mnt             31.00 
6 Battery Systems GR Fcl Mt CH           137.56 
7 Behavioral Interventions Grants Proj           290.70 
8 Bennett Paint & Glass GR Fcl Mt CH           126.59 
9 Berkley Life & Health Intr Gv Pool      21,095.89 

52930 Blue Cross Blue Shield Of WY Intr Gv Pool      37,946.39 
1 Bob Barker Company Inc Shrf Dtn Mnt        1,946.05 
2 Boys & Girls Club Of SW Human Svcs      41,000.00 
3 C & J Enterprises GR Fcl Mt CH        2,268.00 
4 Ca Inc IT Dept           769.32 
5 Capital Business Systems Clk, Treas             71.00 
6 Carquest Auto Parts Road & Bridg           667.52 
7 Carrier Corporation Shrf Dtn Mnt, GR Fcl Mt CH        5,227.92 
8 Castillon D.D.S., A. Bryce Shrf Dtn Mnt        1,142.00 
9 City Drug Shrf Dtn Mnt             57.90 

52940 City Of Green River Animal Cntrl           575.00 
1 City Of Rock Springs Shrf Dtn Mnt             25.00 
2 City Of Rock Springs Animal Cntrl        1,749.74 
3 Civicplus IT Dept        4,221.00 
4 Coalition Of Local Govern Gen Co Admin      15,000.00 
5 Colorado Department Of Pu Co Atrny           250.00 
6 Communication Technologies Shrf Emg Mgt           500.00 
7 Copier & Supply Co Inc Human Resour, Clk Dist Crt, Clk, 

Commiss, Vet Services, Purchasing, 
Shrf, Co Atrny           762.01 

8 Copier & Supply Co Inc Clk Dist Crt, Land Use, Assess, 
Shrf, Shrf Dtn Mnt        1,984.33 

9 Crime Stoppers Usa Inc Shrf           150.00 
52950 Crum Electric Supply Co Inc Capital Proj             40.00 

1 Daggett County Search & Res Shrf Emg Mgt        1,125.00 
2 Dayton, Michael L Co Atrny           482.85 
3 Dell Marketing L P Shrf        2,663.32 
4 Delta Dental Intr Gv Pool        2,008.00 
5 Department Of Transportation Flt Veh Main             10.00 
6 Digital-Ally Inc Shrf        2,817.00 
7 Division Of Victim Servic Grants Proj        5,092.21 
8 DJ's Glass Road & Bridg, GR Fcl Mt CH        1,037.72 
9 Eaton Investments Inc Road & Bridg        1,326.29 

52960 Electrical Connections In Shrf Dtn Mnt      20,822.69 
1 F B McFadden Wholesale Co GR Fcl Mt CH, Shrf Dtn Mnt           224.50 
2 F B McFadden Wholesale Co Shrf Dtn Mnt      11,476.31 
3 Fastenal Company Shrf Dtn Mnt           512.40 
4 Fedex Clk Dist Crt, Co Atrny, IT Dept           242.57 
5 First Choice Ford Road & Bridg           102.64 
6 Five Star Auto & Truck Re Shrf           125.00 
7 Fleetpride Road & Bridg           149.59 
8 Fremont Motor Rock Spring Road & Bridg           178.18 
9 Fsh Communications, LLC Shrf Dtn Mnt             70.00 

52970 G & K Services Road & Bridg           461.10 
1 Generation X Capital Proj        9,582.00 
2 Govconnection Inc Elect, IT Dept      46,335.00 
3 Green River Star Shrf, Vet Services           198.00 
4 Green River Star Gen Co Admin        2,227.50 
5 Greenwood Mapping Inc Capital Proj        3,600.00 
6 Harton P C, Steve Clk Dist Crt        2,944.04 
7 High Country Behavioral  Vet Services           500.00 
8 High Security Lock & Alarm GR Fcl Mt CH             67.50 
9 Homax Oil Sales Inc Flt Veh Main, Road & Bridg      31,631.14 

52980 Hose & Rubber Supply Road & Bridg           220.16 
1 Hospice Of Sweetwater Co Human Svcs      24,500.00 
2 Howard Supply Company, LLC Road & Bridg        1,606.31 
3 Identisys Inc Shrf             64.09 
4 Industrial Hoist And Crane Road & Bridg           279.38 
5 Industrial Solutions Inc GR Fcl Mt CH           685.00 
6 Industrial Supply Road & Bridg, GR Fcl Mt CH           157.66 
7 Inmate Services Corporation Shrf Dtn Mnt        5,354.00 
8 Interact Shrf Dtn Mnt             44.62 
9 Isc Inc IT Dept             38.99 

52990 Jenny Service Co Shrf Dtn Mnt        2,667.92 
1 Jester Signs & Graphics Road & Bridg           225.00 
2 Jim's Upholstery LLC GR Fcl Mt CH           140.00 
3 Jpats/Usms Shrf Dtn Mnt        1,895.77 
4 K-Mart Store 7107 Shrf Dtn Mnt             34.93 
5 Koivusaari, Reijo Shrf Emg Mgt           180.00 
6 Kroger - Smith's Customer Commiss             54.72 



7 Law Offices Of Nathan W J Public Defnd        1,025.00 
8 Lawson Products Inc Road & Bridg        1,962.34 
9 Lewis And Lewis Inc Capital Proj, Road & Bridg      89,428.84 

53000 Lincare Inc Shrf Dtn Mnt           416.00 
1 Linoma Software IT Dept           450.00 
2 Lujan, Catalina F Clk Dist Crt             60.00 
3 Lyle Signs Inc Road & Bridg        1,663.46 
4 Macy's Truck Repair Inc Road & Bridg           619.28 
5 Manpower GR Fcl Mt CH        2,565.57 
6 Mathey Law Office - Assig Clk Dist Crt           530.00 
7 Mathey Law Office - Assig Clk Dist Crt        1,790.00 
8 Mathey Law Office - Assig Clk Dist Crt        1,730.00 
9 Mathey Law Office - Assig Clk Dist Crt             16.67 

53010 McKee Foods Corporation Shrf Dtn Mnt        1,063.52 
1 Meadow Gold Dairy Shrf Dtn Mnt        2,948.19 
2 Medicalproducts Ltd Inc Coroner        1,274.53 
3 Memorial Hospital Of Sw Shrf, Shrf Dtn Mnt           397.00 
4 Mitchelson, Carol R Juv Prob           349.65 
5 Mountain Bay Scuba 06 Shrf Emg Mgt           586.54 
6 Mountain West Business So Juv Prob             90.00 
7 Mountainland Business Sys Gen Co Admin           299.90 
8 Nada Appraisal Guides Clk           219.00 
9 Nada Used Car Guide Clk             99.00 

53020 Napm - Western Wyoming Purchasing           450.00 
1 National Business Systems Treas        1,500.00 
2 Nicholas & Company Shrf Dtn Mnt        4,770.29 
3 Oliver M D P C, Joseph J Shrf Dtn Mnt           717.00 
4 Pacific Steel & Recycling Road & Bridg             26.54 
5 Pineda, Bobby Wayne Clk Dist Crt           680.00 
6 Pineda, Bobby Wayne Clk Dist Crt        2,780.00 
7 Quill Corporation Grants Proj, GR Fcl Mt CH, Clk, 

Shrf, Shrf Dtn Mnt, Co Atrny, 
Commiss, Assess        2,095.82 

8 R S Refrigeration Supply GR Fcl Mt CH           175.48 
9 Real Kleen Inc Shrf Dtn Mnt           329.40 

53030 Reilly, Carla S Clk Dist Crt           125.00 
1 Rizzi, Steven Shrf Emg Mgt             16.25 

2 
Rock Springs Chamber Of 
Comm Coop Ext/4H           125.00 

3 Rock Springs IV Center Shrf Dtn Mnt           585.04 
4 Rock Springs Newspapers Inc Commiss, GR Fcl Mt CH           254.00 
5 Rock Springs Newspapers Inc Capital Proj, Land Use           244.86 
6 Ron's Ace Rentals Road & Bridg           181.99 
7 Rushing, Matthew C Shrf           240.20 
8 Sherman, Stacey Vet Services           344.81 
9 Skaggs Companies Shrf Dtn Mnt, Shrf        1,100.79 

53040 Skaggs Companies Shrf Dtn Mnt        1,026.95 
1 Smyth Printing Inc Clk             37.75 
2 Specialized Pathology Con Coroner        3,120.00 
3 Springhill Suites By Marriott Assess           308.00 
4 Sterling Communications Shrf, Shrf Dtn Mnt, Road & Bridg        2,255.66 
5 SWCO Conservation Distric Conservation      19,447.01 
6 Sweetwater Co Solid Waste Gen Co Admin           400.00 
7 Sweetwater County Fire Dist Gen Accts      15,821.10 
8 Sweetwater County Insurance Human Svcs, Intr Gv Pool      32,962.72 
9 Sweetwater County VSO Vet Services           262.00 

53050 Sweetwater Medics LLC cr ambul svc      20,664.00 

1 
Sweetwater Plumbing & 
Heating GR Fcl Mt CH, Shrf Dtn Mnt           464.00 

2 Sweetwater Transit Authority Transport      31,250.00 
3 Sweetwater Trophies Land Use, Clk Dist Crt, Assess, 

Commiss           160.24 
4 Swisher Hygiene Franchise Shrf Dtn Mnt           893.87 
5 Tegeler & Associates Co Atrny             50.00 
6 The Tire Den Inc Road & Bridg           966.30 
7 Tlo LLC Shrf           110.25 
8 Tubbs MD LLC, Kennon C Shrf Dtn Mnt        8,400.00 
9 Tyler Technologies Inc Capital Proj        2,338.00 

53060 U S Foods Inc Shrf Dtn Mnt        5,137.94 
1 Uinta Engineering & Surve Capital Proj      11,890.00 
2 United Site Services Of N Wamsuttr R&B, RS R&B Lagoo           315.48 
3 University Of Utah Hospital Vet Services           101.00 
4 Van Matre, Don Commiss           307.36 
5 Vehicle Lighting Solution Shrf      21,103.12 
6 VIRS Human Svcs      95,030.00 

7 Vision Service Plan 
Gen Accts, Intr Gv Pool, Human 
Svcs        5,426.98 

8 VLCM Capital Proj        6,440.34 
9 Weimer, Jack Shrf Emg Mgt           661.00 

53070 West Payment Center Clk Dist Crt, Co Atrny        4,660.80 
1 Western Relief LLC Road & Bridg           122.00 
2 Western Wyoming Family Pl Human Svcs        2,046.24 
3 Wilkerson IV MD PC, James Coroner        1,040.00 
4 Wyoming Machinery Company Road & Bridg        2,379.02 
5 Wyoming State Board Of Ph Animal Cntrl           120.00 



6 Wyoming 4-H Foundation Coop Ext/4H             90.00 
7 Wyoming.COM Road & Bridg               4.00 
8 Young At Heart Senior Cit Senior Cntrs      17,122.87 
9 Youth Home Inc Human Svcs      16,750.00 

53080 YWCA Of Sweetwater County Human Svcs      29,576.32 
1 Zoobecks Pets And Supplie Shrf             71.98 
2 Zumbrennen's American Car Road & Bridg             65.18 

        GRAND TOTAL 2,688,921.41 
 
The following unlisted warrants are payroll warrants:  52827-52880.  Warrant 52911 and 52912 will be approved 
at the next commission meeting.   
 
The following bonds were placed on file: 
 
Steve Latham   North Sweetwater Water & Sewer District-Treasurer $    1,000.00 
Ann M. Rudoff  SWCO School District No. 2-     $200,000.00 
 

************** 
TAXPAYER  TAX AMOUNT  TAXPAYER  TAX AMOUNT 

FIDELITY EXPLORATION & PROD  ‐18.52  ENCANA OIL & GAS(USA)INC  ‐22,563.88 

SAMSON RESOURCES CO  ‐576.26  ENCANA OIL & GAS(USA)INC  ‐6,973.30 

SAMSON RESOURCES CO  ‐2,285.00  ENCANA OIL & GAS(USA)INC  ‐11,618.26 

SAMSON RESOURCES CO  ‐67.40  ENCANA OIL & GAS(USA)INC  ‐3,316.66 

SAMSON RESOURCES CO  ‐225.22  ENCANA OIL & GAS(USA)INC  ‐16,322.62 

SAMSON RESOURCES CO  ‐1,382.26  ENCANA OIL & GAS(USA)INC  ‐344.14 

SAMSON RESOURCES CO  ‐4,826.62  MR STEAM CARPET CARE LLC  ‐59.40 

CROWN OIL & GAS CO INC  ‐2.66  MR STEAM CARPET CARE LLC  ‐61.14 

MERIT ENERGY CO  ‐760.38  BP AMERICA PROD CO  ‐755.42 

MERIT ENERGY CO  ‐541.60  BP AMERICA PROD CO  ‐643.94 

 
 
Budget Amendment- Grants 
 
 Accounting Manager Bonnie Phillips presented Resolution 13-02-CL-01, Sweetwater County Budget 
Amendment.  Following discussion, Chairman Johnson opened the public hearing.  Hearing no comments, the 
hearing was closed.  Chairman Johnson entertained a motion to approve Resolution 13-02-CL-01, Sweetwater 
County Budget Amendment presented by Bonnie Phillips.  Commissioner Bailiff so moved.  Commissioner Van 
Matre seconded the motion.  With no discussion, the motion was approved unanimously.   
 

R E S O L U T I O N    13-02-CL-01 
SWEETWATER COUNTY 
BUDGET   AMENDMENT 

 
DUE to the receipt of several grants in the amount of $271,692 with a required match funding in the amount of 
$65,000, 
 
WHEREAS, the Commission approved the grants during the November 6, 2012, December 18, 2012 and January 
15, 2013 Regular Commission Board meetings, 
 
WHEREAS, it has been determined that the aforementioned funds need to be included and transferred within the 
2012-2013 County Budget, 
 
WHEREAS, the Notice of Public Hearing has been published in accordance with the regulations and rules 
governing the budget process and there being no protests filed or expressed to the Board of County 
Commissioners regarding this amendment to the Sweetwater County Budget at the hearing, 
 
BE IT THEREFORE RESOLVED: that the 2012-2013 fiscal year budget for Sweetwater County be amended to 
reflect the following budget changes: 
 
 Expenditures Increase Grant Fund: 
  1.   11-GPD-SWE-LC-HLE11 (Coroner's FY 11 Grant)  $    6,168 
  2. 11-GPD-SWE-SC-HSG11     $  43,372 
  3.   FY 13 CSBG       $157,152 
  4.   2012 L&WCF       $130,000 
 
 Expenditure Decrease General Fund: 
  4.   Potential Grant Match     ($ 65,000) 
 
 Revenue Increase Grant Fund: 
   
  1.   11-GPD-SWE-LC-HLE11 (Coroner's FY 11 Grant)  $    6,168 
  2. 11-GPD-SWE-SC-HSG11     $  43,372 
  3.   FY 13 CSBG       $157,152 
  4.   2012 L&WCF       $  65,000 
   
Dated at Green River, Wyoming this 5th day of February, 2013. 
 



THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
        OF SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING 
               
        ____________________________________  
        Wally J. Johnson, Chairman 
 
               
        Gary Bailiff, Member 
 
            ______  
        John K. Kolb, Member 
ATTEST: 
        ____________________________________ 
        Don Van Matre, Member 
 
               
Steven Dale Davis, County Clerk    Reid O. West, Member 
 

************** 
 
Commissioner Comments/Reports 
 

Commissioner Bailiff 
Commissioner Bailiff reported that county roads are being worked on and maintained.  Commissioner 
Bailiff noted that he discussed, with a concerned Red Desert Round Up board member, the news article 
regarding money brought in during the National High School Rodeo event.  He noted that they 
questioned, with all the money coming in, why the rental rate continued to increase at the events complex.  
Commissioner Bailiff explained that he received a call from BP in Wamsutter regarding the utilization of 
recycle bins from the Solid Waste District No. 2.  Commissioner Bailiff reported that he visited the Road 
& Bridge department as well as the maintenance shop.  Commissioner Bailiff reported that the 
Ambulance Service Board had their first meeting and appointed a chairman, vice chairman and a 
secretary.  Lastly, Commissioner Bailiff reported that he attended a retirement party for County Clerk 
employee Sharon Sample and is working on the Rocket Miner progress edition relative to the Ambulance 
Service Board.   
 
Chairman Johnson 
Chairman Johnson reported that he attended County Clerk employee Sharon Sample’s retirement party 
and commended her on her years of service.  Chairman Johnson expressed his dissatisfaction with the 
Wyoming County Commissioners Association (WCCA) regarding legislation as, historically; the WCCA 
would have the chairperson of each county meet as a board of directors for the commission to review all 
bills and pass judgment on the bills.  He explained that, due to changes made within the organization, 
proper representation has not transpired.  Chairman Johnson explained that the counties of Sweetwater, 
Sheridan, Washakie and Crook are scheduled for the 2013 Legislative Help Schedule on February 11-15, 
2013 in Cheyenne and noted that Commissioner Kolb would be coordinating on behalf of Sweetwater 
County.  Chairman Johnson explained that, with Sublette County Commissioner John Linn stepping down 
from the Board of Wyoming Landscape Conservation Initiative (WLCI), he was elected to replace 
Commissioner Linn and Lincoln County Commissioner Kent Connelly was elected to serve as the 
alternate.  He further explained that WLCI is an interagency working group made of six counties that has 
been funded to do conservation projects in Southwestern Wyoming.  
 
Commissioner Van Matre 
Commissioner Van Matre reported that he attended the financial process kick off meeting held by the IT 
Department, the 2013 Legislative General Session and new commissioner workshop in Cheyenne.  
Commissioner Van Matre further reported that he, along with Commissioner Kolb, attended the State 
Legislative banquet in Cheyenne and also attended County Clerk employee Sharon Sample’s retirement 
party.  Commissioner Van Matre provided an overview of implementation programs transpiring within 
the next year for the IT department which include: tax process implementation, core financial project, 
code and permit process, human resource and payroll.  Commissioner Van Matre further provided an 
update on the grants that Grants Manager Krisena Marchal has prepared and noted that she has completed 
the final response to the Business Council relative to the 1.5 million dollar grant for upgrades to County 
Road 23, and is in the process of preparing the Consensus Block Grant Resolution as well as verifying 
and validating the needs assessment program.  Commissioner Van Matre visited Museum Board Director 
Ruth Lauritzen regarding the historic Carnegie building, met with Veteran Services Director Denise 
Boudreault and Juvenile Probation Director Karin Kelly.  Lastly, Commissioner Van Matre noted that he 
will be attending an upcoming American Legion meeting.   
 
Commissioner Kolb 
Commissioner Kolb reported that he attended a meeting with the Communities Protecting the Green and 
noted that he is working on subcontract issues.  Commissioner Kolb further reported that he attended the 
2013 Legislative General Session and new commissioner workshop in Cheyenne and attended, along with 
Commissioner Van Matre, the State Legislative banquet.  Commissioner Kolb spoke that he is actively 
trying to protect Sweetwater County and the revenues that belong to Sweetwater County.  Commissioner 
Kolb also expressed his concerns relative to HB 85 and allowing residents to have a voice.  Commissioner 
Kolb spoke that he testified in support of the fuel tax rate increase.  Commissioner Kolb noted that he is 
working on the Rocket Miner progress edition relative to the Sweetwater County Events Complex.  
Commissioner Kolb concurred with Chairman Johnson regarding WCCA’s lack of commission 
representation relative to legislation and house bills.  Lastly, Commissioner Kolb reported that he visited 
with the following people: Events Complex Director Larry Lloyd, Accounting Manager Bonnie Phillips, 



County Clerk Dale Davis, Deputy County Assessor Dave Divis, Planning and Zoning Director Eric 
Bingham, Public Works Director John Radosevich, Human Resource Director Garry McLean, Deputy 
County Attorney Cliff Boevers, Land Use Specialist Mark Kot, County Treasurer Robb Slaughter, 
Facilities Manager Chuck Radosevich and County Clerk Employee Sharon Sample.   
 
Commissioner Bailiff further reported that he attended the Parks and Recreation and Library board 
meetings.   
 
Chairman Johnson concurred with Commissioner Kolb relative to HB 85 and allowing residents to have a 
voice.   
 

County Resident Concerns 
  

Chairman Johnson opened county resident concerns.  Hearing no comments, the hearing was closed.   
 

Break 
 
 Chairman Johnson called for a ten minute break.  In the interest of being ahead of schedule, Chairman 
Johnson requested that Public Works Director John Radosevich present the renewal of BLM Right of Way Grant 
WYW-82646 and the request to BLM for additional right of way for CR 4-32 Mud Springs Road Realignment. 
 
Action/Presentation Items 
 

Renewal of BLM Right of Way Grant WYW-82646 
Public Works Director John Radosevich presented and requested a motion to approve the renewal of the 
BLM Right of Way Grant WYW-82646 and authorize the Chairman to sign the documents.  Chairman 
Johnson entertained a motion to approve as requested by Mr. Radosevich.  Commissioner Kolb moved to 
approve the request for WYW-82646.  Commissioner Bailiff seconded the motion.  With no discussion, 
the motion was approved unanimously. 

 
Request to BLM for Additional Right of Way for CR 4-32 Mud Springs Road Realignment 
Public Works Director John Radosevich presented Resolution 13-02-EN-01.  Following discussion, 
Chairman Johnson entertained a motion to approve Resolution 13-02-EN-01, a resolution requesting the 
Bureau of Land Management to grant an additional right of way to Sweetwater County to enable 
Sweetwater County to realign County Road 4-32.  Commissioner Bailiff so moved.  Commissioner Van 
Matre seconded the motion.  With no discussion, the motion was approved unanimously.  
 

RESOLUTION 13-02-EN-01 
 

A RESOLUTION REQUESTING THE BUREAU OF LAND MANAGEMENT 
TO GRANT AN ADDITIONAL RIGHT OF WAY TO SWEETWATER COUNTY  TO ENABLE 

SWEETWATER COUNTY TO REALIGN COUNTY ROAD 4-32 
 

Whereas, County Road 4-32, otherwise known as the “Mud Springs Road,” connects with State Highway 430 
approximately thirty and one-half (30 1/2) miles south of Rock Springs, Wyoming; and  
 
Whereas, the existing County Road 4-32 was acquired from the Bureau of Land Management (BLM) through a 
right-of-way grant, designated as W-77241; and  
 
Whereas, the portion of County Road 4-32 that is within the reach of  this Resolution is located in Sweetwater 
County on BLM owned Section 4, T. 15 N., R. 102 W., of the 6th P.M.; and 
 
Whereas, County Road 4-32 crosses a wooden bridge  which is designated by the Wyoming Department of 
Transportation as “ESA,” and said wooden bridge is in disrepair to the degree that it is unsafe for vehicular use; 
and 
 
Whereas, the repair of said bridge necessitates an excessive and unnecessary expense to Sweetwater County, and 
realigning County Road 4-32 presents a satisfactory, less expensive alternative; and 
 
Whereas, the realignment of County Road 4-32 requires Sweetwater County to acquire from the BLM land that is 
included in an existing BLM right-of-way grant, designated as W-167500, which is shown on a map identified as 
Exhibit 1, which is attached hereto, and by this reference incorporated herein; and 
 
Whereas, for all land now needed by Sweetwater County to properly realign County Road 4-32, Sweetwater 
County shall request from the BLM a one hundred (100) foot right-of-way to permit the land to be used as a 
county road;  
 
Whereas,  Sweetwater County acknowledges its obligation to remove the bridge, and reclaim the affected area, 
including the portion of County Road 4-32 which is planned to be vacated, and will comply with all applicable 
regulations and directives of the BLM in reclaiming said property. 
 
Now therefore, the Sweetwater County Commission is hereby submitting its request to the Bureau of Land 
Management to grant an additional Right of Way to Sweetwater County to assist Sweetwater County in 
realigning County Road 4-32 for the stated purposes, and in the location identified herein.  
 
Dated this 5th day of February, 2013 



THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
        OF SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING 
               
        ____________________________________  
        Wally J. Johnson, Chairman 
 
               
        Gary Bailiff, Member 
 
            ______  
        John K. Kolb, Member 
ATTEST: 
        ____________________________________ 
        Don Van Matre, Member 
 
               
Steven Dale Davis, County Clerk    Reid O. West, Member 
 

************** 
 

 
Approval of the 2010 Nonparticipating State Award Subgrant for the Pre-Court Diversion and 
Electronic Monitoring Programs 
Grants Manager Krisena Marchal and Juvenile Probation Director Karin Kelly presented the 2010 
nonparticipating state award subgrant for the pre-court diversion and electronic monitoring programs.  
Following discussion, Chairman Johnson entertained a motion to approve, and have the Chairman sign, 
the 2010 nonparticipating state award subgrant for the pre-court diversion and electronic monitoring 
programs.  Commissioner Van Matre moved for approval and to have the Chairman sign the 2010 
nonparticipating state award subgrant for the pre-court diversion and electronic monitoring programs.  
Commissioner Bailiff seconded the motion.  With no discussion, the motion was approved unanimously. 
 
Town of Granger Request for Additional Consensus Funds 
Granger Mayor Lenore Perry requested funding in the amount of $90,000 to supplement a grant the Town 
of Granger already submitted to the Wyoming Business Council for a Community Service Center.  
Commissioner West arrived to the meeting at 9:48 a.m.  Following discussion relative to the county not 
having sole authority to determine re-appropriation of the consensus money and the option of reducing the 
county allotment, Mayor Perry explained that funding does not have to come from consensus funds but, 
rather, wherever the commission deems appropriate.  Further discussion ensued regarding outstanding 
projects in Granger from monies received from prior consensus funds and the 6th cent tax initiative.   
 

Commissioner Comments/Reports Continued 
 
Commissioner West  
Commissioner West reported that he missed the Southwest Counseling Services meeting due to being in 
Cheyenne for State Legislature.  Commissioner West noted that HB 87, the bill to reduce the interest rate 
calculated on delinquent taxes, is dead.  Commissioner West explained that the State of Wyoming has 
$15.5 billion in reserves and investments are returning approximately $600 million a year.  Commissioner 
West expressed his concerns to the state relative to counties and cities lobbying efforts for financial aid.  
Commissioner West spoke that he, Facilities Manager Chuck Radosevich and Plan One Architect Charlie 
Van Over met relative to 333 Broadway to review what agencies would be utilizing the facilities.  
Commissioner West reported that he attended the ambulance service board as well as the Memorial 
Hospital finance and audit committee meetings.  Commissioner West explained that the medical office 
building is behind schedule due to state delays but that they are still scheduled to complete the building 
during the fall of 2014.  Commissioner West noted that the county morgue is almost complete.   
 
Chairman Johnson spoke that, when entities come before the board for additional funding and they are 
unable to comply, the commissioners are not the bad guys.  He explained that Cheyenne is taking the 
monies generated from oil and gas and putting it in mineral trust funds also known as rainy day funds and, 
because of this, cities and counties are suffering the consequences.  He explained that the commission 
continues to lobby to get this money back. 
 
Board Appointments:   
 
 Library Board- (to fulfill Joe Barbuto’s Unexpired Term thru 12-1-14) 

Commissioner Bailiff moved to nominate Timothy Winger for the open position.  Commissioner 
West seconded the motion.  Following discussion, the motion was approved unanimously. 

 
Museum Board- (to fulfill Gail Panalsek’s Unexpired Term thru 7-1-14) 
Commissioner Van Matre moved to nominate Judy Graham.  Commissioner Kolb seconded the 
motion.  With no discussion, the motion was approved unanimously. 

 
Solid Waste No. 1 (Rock Springs) Board 
Commissioner West moved to approve the appointment of Harold Kincaid to Solid Waste 
District No. 1.  Commissioner Kolb seconded the motion.  With no discussion, the motion was 
approved unanimously. 

 
Joint Powers Water Board 



Commissioner West moved to approve the reappointment of Al Harris to the Joint Powers 
Water Board.  Commissioner Bailiff seconded the motion.  With no discussion, the motion was 
approved unanimously. 

 
Letter of Support for Mental Health and Substance Abuse Application for Services 
Southwest Counseling Services Director Linda Acker explained that Southwest Counseling is applying 
for funding from the Wyoming Department of Health, Behavioral Health for Outpatient and Regional 
Mental Health and Substance Abuse Services in Sweetwater County and a requirement of the application 
is a letter of support from the County Commissioners.  Commissioner West moved to approve Chairman 
Johnson’s signing of the subject letter.  Commissioner Van Matre seconded the motion.  With no 
discussion, the motion was approved unanimously. 
 
Approval of MOU with Sublette County to Allow Juveniles to be Placed in the SWCO Detention 
Center 
Deputy County Attorney Cliff Boevers presented the MOU with Sublette County to allow juveniles to be 
placed in the SWCO Detention Center.  Following discussion, Chairman Johnson entertained a motion to 
approve the Memorandum of Understanding as presented between Sweetwater County, Sweetwater 
County Sheriff, Sublette County and the Sublette County Sheriff as presented.  Commissioner Kolb so 
moved.  Chairman Johnson restated the motion to accept the agreement and authorize the Chairman to 
sign.  Commissioner West seconded the motion.  With no discussion, the motion was approved 
unanimously. 
 
Mutual Aid Agreement for Emergency Response Renewal 
Green River Fire Chief Kennedy presented the Renewal Mutual Aid Agreement for Emergency Response.  
Following discussion regarding the annual agreement vs. amending the agreement to perpetuity and 
adding a clause to allow parties 30-60 days written notice to get out of the agreement, Chairman Johnson 
entertained a motion to table the request until it has been modified by our council and approved by the 
City of Green River and comes back before the board for approval.  Commissioner West so moved.  
Commissioner Van Matre seconded the motion.  With no discussion, the motion was approved 
unanimously. 
 
Approval of Modified U.S. Forest Service Contract 
Sheriff Haskell explained that the prior U.S. Forest Service contract had the incorrect amount granted to 
the Sweetwater County Sheriff’s office and presented the modified agreement which increased the 
amount an additional $5,000.  Following discussion, Chairman Johnson entertained a motion to approve 
the modified U.S. Forest Service contract as presented by the Sheriff and authorize the Chairman to sign.  
Commissioner Kolb so moved.  Commissioner Bailiff seconded the motion.  With no discussion, the 
motion was approved unanimously. 
 
Request to Re-Staff Detention Officer Position 
Human Resource Director Garry McLean presented the request to re-staff the detention officer position.  
Mr. McLean explained that it is Sheriff Haskell’s intent to move an existing detention officer to replace 
the position of the sergeant and re-staff the vacant detention officer position.  Following discussion, 
Chairman Johnson entertained a motion to approve the request of the Sheriff to fill the vacancy.  
Commissioner Van Matre moved to approve the request to re-staff the detention officer position in 
Sheriff Haskell’s organization.  Commissioner Bailiff seconded the motion.  Following discussion, 
Commissioner Bailiff withdrew his second to allow Commissioner Van Matre to restate his motion to re-
staff the detention officer position with the understanding that the corporal position discussed be 
eliminated.  Commissioner Van Matre re-stated the motion to request approval to re-staff the detention 
officer position being requested by the Sheriff’s Department with the understanding that the corporal 
position we discussed be eliminated.  Commissioner Bailiff seconded the motion.  With no further 
discussion, the motion was approved unanimously. 
 
Request to Re-Staff Vacant Court Clerk Position 
District Clerk of Court Donna Lee Boback requested authorization to re-staff two vacant court clerk 
positions.  Following discussion, Chairman Johnson entertained a motion to approve the request.  
Commissioner Kolb made the motion.  Commissioner Van Matre seconded the motion.  With no 
discussion, the motion was approved unanimously. 

 
Approval of BCBS Summary Plan Document 
Human Resource Director Garry McLean presented the Blue Cross Blue Shield Summary Plan 
Document.  Following discussion, Chairman Johnson entertained a motion to approve the Blue Cross 
Blue Shield Summary Plan Document as presented and authorize the Chairman to sign.  Commissioner 
West so moved.  Commissioner Van Matre seconded the motion.  With no discussion, the motion was 
approved unanimously. 
 
Circuit Court Architect’s Request for Payment for Additional Services 
Facilities Manager Chuck Radosevich presented the request from EDA, Inc. requesting compensation for 
additional unanticipated services and expenses.  Following a lengthy discussion, Chairman Johnson 
entertained a motion to approve the request of January 13, 2013 by EDA for the amount of $11,429.  
Commissioner Bailiff so moved.  Commissioner Kolb seconded the motion.  With no discussion, the 
motion was approved unanimously. 

 
Award of Yellowstone Road Lighting Project 
Public Works Director John Radosevich presented the bids for the Yellowstone Road Lighting Project 
and recommended to award the bid to Modern Electric in the amount of $408,090 and authorize the 
Chairman to sign all necessary project documentation.  U.E.S.I. Representative Rob Young was present.  
Following discussion, Chairman Johnson entertained a motion to award the contract to Modern Electric in 



the amount of $408,090 as presented and recommended by staff and authorize the Chairman to sign all 
necessary documents.  Commissioner West so moved.  Commissioner Bailiff seconded the motion.  With 
no discussion, the motion was approved unanimously. 
 
Update on Programs and Services Provided in SWCO 
SW Wrap Director Cathie Hughes updated the commission on the programs and services provided by SW 
Wrap.   

 
Break 
 
 Chairman Johnson called for a five minute break. 
 

Fiscal Year 2012 Audit Presentation 
McGee, Hearne & Paiz auditors Robert Dayhill and Amber Nuse presented the Fiscal Year 2012 Audit.  
Following discussion and the request to reword the Events Complex finding, the commission concurred 
that after the revision is made and reviewed, they will approve the audit at that time.    

Other 
 
Lunch 
 
 Chairman Johnson recessed the meeting for lunch.  After the lunch break, Chairman Johnson opened the 
afternoon session. 
 
Planning & Zoning- Public Hearing 
 
 Donald Fuger Conditional Use Permit - Above Ground Storage of 7,000 Gallons of Diesel Fuel 

Planning and Zoning Director Eric Bingham provided the Planning & Zoning report and presented 
Resolution 13-02-ZO-01, Donald Fuger Conditional Use Permit - Above Ground Storage of 7,000 
Gallons of Diesel Fuel.  Residents Don Fuger and Larry Wagoner were present.  Code Enforcement 
Specialist Jim Zimmerman was present to explain the fire hazards.  Following discussion, Chairman 
Johnson entertained a motion to approve Resolution 13-02-ZO-01, Donald Fuger conditional use permit 
above ground storage of 7,000 gallons of diesel fuel.  Commissioner Kolb motioned to approve 
Resolution 13-02-ZO-01.  Commissioner Bailiff seconded the motion.  With no discussion, the motion 
was approved unanimously.  Chairman Johnson acknowledged that he neglected to open the hearing to 
public comment.  Chairman Johnson opened the public hearing.  Hearing no comments, the public 
hearing was closed.   

 
RESOLUTION 13-02-ZO-01 

 
DONALD FUGER 

CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT 
ABOVE GROUND STORAGE OF 7,000 GALLONS OF DIESEL FUEL 

 
WHEREAS, Donald Fuger has requested a Conditional Use Permit in accordance with Section 6 of the 
Sweetwater County Zoning Resolution for the Above Ground Storage of 7,000 gallons of diesel fuel.  This 
application is to be located on a parcel of land owned by Donald Fuger and described as: 
 

A parcel of land, located in the East Half of the Southwest Quarter (E½ SW¼) and the South Half of the 
South Half of the Northwest Quarter  (S½S½NW¼ ) (Lots 6, 11 and 14)  OF Section 36, Township 20 
North, Range 105 West, of the Sixth Principal Meridian, County of Sweetwater, State of Wyoming, being 
more particularly described as follows: 
 
Commencing at the North Quarter Corner of said Section 36 (basis of bearing being South 86º52’ East 
along the north line of Section 36, from the North Quarter Corner to the Northeast Corner G.L.O. Plat). 
 
Thence South 00º03’46” West along the north-south centerline (east line of Lots 3 and 6) of said Section 
36, a distance of 2541.54 feet to the Center Quarter (center of section) of Section 36; 
 
Thence continuing South 00º03’46” West along the north-south centerline (east line of Lot 11) of Section 
36, a distance of 4.20 feet, to the intersection of the southeasterly line of a tract deeded to the RELIANCE 
SEWER DISTRICT and filed in Book 412, Pages 132 and 133 as recorded in the Sweetwater County 
Clerk’s Office, this being the TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING; 
 
Thence continuing South 00º03’46”  West along the north-south centerline (east line of Lot 11) of Section 
36, a distance of 699.37 feet to the intersection of the northerly right-of-way boundary of Sweetwater 
County Road Number 4-42 as recorded in Book 127, Page 405 of the Sweetwater County Clerk’s Office; 
 
Thence, South 54º29’ West along the northerly right-of-way line, a distance of 297.41 feet to the 
beginning of a curve to the right; 
  
Thence to the right continuing along the northerly right-of-way line, along a circular curve having a radius 
of 2814.79 feet, being a 2 degree curve, through a central angle of 08º09”, an arc distance of 400.39 feet 
(concave northwest); 
 



Thence South 62º38’ West continuing along said northerly right-of-way line, a distance of 900.45 feet to 
the intersection of the north-south centerline of the Southwest Quarter (West Line of Lots 14 and 11) of 
said Section 36; 
 
Thence North 0º03’33” East along the north-south centerline (West Line of Lots 14 and 11) of the 
Southwest Quarter of Section 36, a distance of 1577.51 feet to the intersection of the east-west centerline 
of said Section 36 (the northwest corner of Lot 11); 
 
Thence North 00º01’57” East along the north-south centerline (west line of Lot 6) of the Northwest 
Quarter of said Section 36, a distance of 329.90 feet to the intersection of the north line of the South Half 
of the South Half of the Southeast Quarter of the Northwest Quarter (S1/2S1/2SE1/4NW1/4)(Lot 6); 
 
Thence South 86º45’23” East along the north line of the South Half of the South Half of the Southeast 
Quarter of the Northwest Quarter (S1/2S1/2SE1/4NW1/4)  of said Section 36 (S1/2S1/2 Lot 6), a distance 
of 812.33 feet to the intersection of  the northwest line of a 10 acre parcel deeded to the RELIANCE 
SEWER DISTRICT; 
 
Thence South 46°09’56” West (parallel to the southeast line of the parcel deeded to the RELIANCE 
SEWER DISTRICT as recorded in Book 412, Pages 132 and 133), and having a recorded bearing of 
South 45°49’ West), a distance of 260.48 feet to the West Corner of the RELIANCE SEWER DISTRICT 
10 acre parcel; 
 
Thence South 43º50’04” East (parallel to the northeast line of the aforementioned RELIANCE SEWER 
DISTRICT parcel), a distance of 660.00 feet to the south corner of the RELIANCE SEWER DISTRICT 
parcel; 
 
Thence North 46º09’56” East along the southeasterly line of the aforementioned RELIANCE SEWER 
DISTRICT parcel, a distance of 413.36 feet to the TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING.  
 
Said described parcel of land contains an area of 40.23 acres more or less. 
 

WHEREAS, the Sweetwater County Board of County Commissioners held a public hearing in regards to this 
matter on February 5, 2013 and has given due consideration to the recommendation of the Planning and Zoning 
Commission and to all the evidence and testimony presented at the hearing. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the applicant’s request be APPROVED with the following 
conditions: 
 

1. The Conditional Use Permit is personal to the applicant. 
2. Applicant is to comply with the terms and conditions specified in the application. 
3. The Conditional Use Permit is valid for a period of 5 years from the date of Board of County 

Commissioner approval. 
4. Applicant must meet all applicable Federal, State and local regulations. 

 
Dated this 5th day of February, 2013. 
 

THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
        OF SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING 
               
        ____________________________________  
        Wally J. Johnson, Chairman 
 
               
        Gary Bailiff, Member 
 
            ______  
        John K. Kolb, Member 
ATTEST: 
        ____________________________________ 
        Don Van Matre, Member 
 
               
Steven Dale Davis, County Clerk    Reid O. West, Member 
 

************** 
Break 
 
 Chairman Johnson called for a ten minute break. 
 
Action/Presentation Items (Cont.) 
 
 GIS Roads PowerPoint Presentation 

Rocky Mountain Survey and Sweetwater County Conservation District Consultant Kent Felderman 
presented a PowerPoint presentation on GIS Roads.  Conservation District Chairman Mary Thoman was 
present to answer questions on behalf of the Conservation District.   

  
Executive Session(s)-Personnel/Legal 
 



Chairman Johnson entertained a motion to enter into executive session for personnel.  Commissioner 
Bailiff so moved.  Commissioner Kolb seconded the motion.  With no discussion, the motion was approved 
unanimously.  A quorum of the commission was present. 

 
After coming out of executive session, Chairman Johnson explained that personnel issues were discussed 

and entertained a motion as to whom to select as the new fire warden for Sweetwater County.  Commissioner 
Bailiff introduced retired Rock Springs Fire Department Captain Dave Bottemiller and nominated him as the 
Fire Warden for Sweetwater County.  Commissioner West seconded the motion.  With no discussion, the 
motion was approved unanimously.   

 
Adjourn 
  

There being no further business to come before the Board this day, the meeting was adjourned subject to 
the call of the Chairman. 
 

This meeting was recorded and is available from the County Clerk’s office at the Sweetwater County 
Courthouse in Green River, Wyoming 
 

 
THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

        OF SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING 
               
        ____________________________________  
        Wally J. Johnson, Chairman 
 
               
        Gary Bailiff, Member 
 
            ______  
        John K. Kolb, Member 
ATTEST: 
        ____________________________________ 
        Don Van Matre, Member 
 
               
Steven Dale Davis, County Clerk    Reid O. West, Member 
 

************** 
 









































































County Wide Consensus Block Grant Application Form

JOINT RESOLUTION

   We, the undersigned County Board of Commissioners, hereby  certify that the Board and at least seventy percent (70%) of the incorporated  population within 

County have reached agreement on the following project(s) to be funded under Chapter 26, Section 324 and in compliance with rules promolgated by the State Loan and Investment Board, Chapter 32.

 

County Consensus List

            Priority Listing: Available

3,557,596.00$   

B C D E F G H I J K L M N O

Project Name

Total 

Estimated 

Project Cost

E + G + I

Total Funding 

Secured & in 

place

Amount of 

Grants, Loans, 

and Other 

types of 

previously 

secured 

funding

Grant #, Loan #, Other 

Information for Previously 

secured funding

Local Match

If any

Local Match

If any

(Please provide detail) Other Match

Other Match

If any

  (Please provide detail)

Percentage of  

Total Project 

Already 

Funded

C - D

Balance of 

Project 

needing 

funding

Project Share 

requested 

from this 

consensus list

L - M 

Amount of 

Project not 

funded after 

consensus list 

funding 

request

N / C

Percentage of 

project not yet 

funded

Wamsutter Pedistrian 

Walking Path          307,000.00          292,000.00          262,000.00 

Wamsutter Foundation, WYDOT 

TEAL Grant, MRG #11165 SW           30,000.00 WYDOT TEAL Grant Match 95.11%           15,000.00 15,000.00                        -   0%

Wamsutter Street Lighting Project           45,000.00                        -             45,000.00 45,000.00                        -   0%

Public Safety Building - Police 

Station and Municipal Court       1,600,000.00          600,000.00          600,000.00 MRG Chapter 3 37.50%       1,000,000.00 1,000,000.00                        -   0%

                       -                          -                          -   

                       -                          -                          -   

                       -                          -                          -   

                       -                          -                          -   

                       -                          -                          -   

                       -                          -                          -   

                       -                          -                          -   

                       -                          -                          -   

                       -                          -                          -   

                       -                          -                          -   

                       -                          -                          -   

                       -                          -                          -   

                       -                          -                          -   

                       -                          -                          -   

                       -                          -                          -   

                       -                          -                          -   
                       -                          -                          -   

Totals:  $   1,952,000.00  $      892,000.00  $      862,000.00  $        30,000.00  $                    -   1,060,000.00$   

1,060,000.00$   

-$                   

 $   2,497,596.00 

Funds Available

BFY13/14 Funding

Signature

Title

Title

Signature

Signature

MAYOR, City of Green River

Signature

Signature

Signature

Signature

ATTEST: City of Green River Clerk

Signature

County Commissioner

MAYOR, City of Rock Springs

County Commissioner

CHAIRMAN, Sweetwater County Commission

County Commissioner County Commissioner

Signature

Signature Signature

Signature

ATTEST: County Clerk

Signature

Title

Signature

ATTEST: City of Rock Springs Clerk

Signature

Title

County Commissioner

City of Green River

County Commissioner

Signature

A

Sweetwater

Sweetwater

Project Owner

Town of Wamsutter

Town of Wamsutter

Page 1 Consensus Total:  

Page 2 Consensus Total:  

Balance after Priority Listing:  

1,060,000.00$        

#SWBFY13/14-1 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE BASIC FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 
 
Board of County Commissioners 
Sweetwater County, Wyoming 
Green River, Wyoming 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the aggregate 
discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of 
Sweetwater County, Wyoming (County) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2012, which collectively 
comprise the County’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.  These financial 
statements are the responsibility of the County’s management.  Our responsibility is to express opinions 
on these financial statements based on our audit.  We did not audit the financial statements of Memorial 
Hospital of Sweetwater County (Hospital) which is presented as a major component unit of the County 
and whose assets totaled $104,752,801 and whose revenues totaled $57,314,833 in the accompanying 
basic financial statements.  The financial statements of the Hospital were audited by other auditors whose 
report has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for the 
Hospital, is based solely on the report of the other auditors. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement.  An audit includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for 
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the County’s internal control over financial reporting.  Accordingly, we 
express no such opinion.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles 
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation.  We believe that our audit and the report of the other auditor provide a reasonable basis for 
our opinions. 
 
In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of the other auditors, the financial statements referred to 
above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental 
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the County as of June 30, 2012, and the respective changes in financial 
position and cash flows, where applicable, thereof for the year then ended in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated January 29, 
2013, on our consideration of the County’s internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters.  
The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal 
control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of our 
audit. 
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Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis on pages 3 through 10, the budgetary comparison information on pages 52 and 
53, and the schedule of funding progress on page 54 be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements.  Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting 
for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  
We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion 
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with 
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the County’s basic financial statements.  The combining statements of nonmajor funds and 
discretely presented component units are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a 
required part of the basic financial statements.  The accompanying schedule of expenditures of Federal 
awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by the U.S. Office of Management and 
Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations, and is not a 
required part of the basic financial statements.  Such information is the responsibility of management and 
was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
financial statements.  The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit 
of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial 
statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the information is 
fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole. 

 
Cheyenne, Wyoming 
January 29, 2013 
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 

 
INTRODUCTION 
 
The following is a discussion and analysis of Sweetwater County’s performance and activities for the 
year ended June 30, 2012.  When read in conjunction with the financial statements, this section’s 
financial highlights, overview and analysis should assist the reader in gaining a more complete 
knowledge of the County’s financial performance.   
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 

 For the primary government, the County’s assets exceeded its liabilities at the close of the fiscal 
year by $104,110,387 (net assets).  Of this amount, $30,166,522 (unrestricted net assets) may 
be used to meet the County’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors.  For the entire 
government (including component units) net assets were $198,598,585 and unrestricted net 
assets were $71,933,226.  Note that with the current financial reporting model, the total net 
assets figure includes capital assets net of accumulated depreciation. 

 At the close of the year, the County’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund 
balances of $35,476,390, an increase of $7,990,450 from the prior year, as restated.  Of this 
amount, $16,131,047 is available for spending at the County’s discretion (unassigned fund 
balance). 

 At the end of the year, the unassigned fund balance for the general fund was $16,131,047 or 
38% of total general fund expenditures. 

 Total debt (capital leases) for the primary government decreased by $649,330 during the year.  
During the year, the County made payments on existing capital leases of $649,330 and no new 
capital lease agreements were entered into.  Capital leases payable as of June 30, 2012 were 
$527,223.   

 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to Sweetwater County’s basic 
financial statements.  Under the current reporting model, the basic financial statements comprise three 
components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the 
financial statements.  This report also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic 
financial statements. 
 
Government-wide financial statements.  Government-wide financial statements are designed to 
provide readers with a broad overview of the County’s finances in a manner similar to private-sector 
business reporting.  These statements include the County as well as the component units of 
Sweetwater County (Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County, Sweetwater County Fair Board, 
Southwest Counseling, Sweetwater County Library System, Sweetwater County Museum, Sweetwater 
County Recreation Board and the Sweetwater County Board of Health).   
 
The statement of net assets, a component of the government-wide financial statements, presents 
information on all of the County’s assets and liabilities, with the difference between the two reported as 
net assets.  The County’s capital assets (land, buildings, equipment and infrastructure) are included in 
this statement and reported net of their accumulated depreciation.  Over time, increases or decreases 
in net assets may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the County is improving 
or deteriorating.  In evaluating the government’s overall condition, however, additional non-financial 
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factors should be considered such as the County’s economic outlook, changes in its demographics, 
and the condition of its capital assets and infrastructure. 
 
The statement of activities presents revenue and expense information showing how the County’s net 
assets changed during the fiscal year.  To understand the basis of how these numbers are determined, 
it is important to note that changes in net assets are reported whenever an event occurs that requires a 
revenue or expense to be recognized, regardless of when the related cash is received or disbursed (the 
accrual basis of accounting).  For example, tax revenues are reported when the taxes are legally due, 
even though they may not be collected for some time after that date; and an obligation to pay a supplier 
is reported as an expense when the goods or services are received, even though the bill may not be 
paid until some time later.   
 
Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the County that are principally 
supported by intergovernmental revenues and property taxes (governmental activities) from other 
functions designed to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges 
(business type activities).  The governmental activities of the County include:  general government, 
public safety, road and bridge, health, recreation and welfare and conservation of natural resources.  
Business-type activities include the Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County. 
 
The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 11 and 12 of this report. 
 
Fund financial statements.  A fund is a grouping of related accounts (revenues, expenditures, assets 
and liabilities) that is used to control resources that have been segregated for specific activities.  
Sweetwater County, like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and 
demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements.  All of the funds utilized by the County 
can be divided into three categories:  governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds. 
 
Governmental Funds.  Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions 
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  However, for 
accounting and reporting purposes, government fund numbers are determined with a different 
approach.  At the fund level, the focus is on changes in short-term spendable resources and the 
balance available to spend, rather than the long-term focus used for determining government-wide 
numbers.  Because the focus is so different between fund statements and government-wide 
statements, reconciliation between the two types is necessary to understand how the numbers differ.  
Such reconciliations are provided on pages 14 and 16 of this report. 
 
The General Fund is the primary operating governmental fund of the County.  Four other governmental 
funds are reported.  A summary of the four other funds (nonmajor funds) is combined into one 
“Nonmajor Governmental Funds” column.  To demonstrate legal compliance, a statement comparing 
budget-to actual numbers for the General Fund is included in the required supplementary information.   
 
Proprietary Funds.  There are two different types of proprietary funds.  Enterprise funds are used to 
report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial 
statements.  Internal service funds are an accounting tool used to accumulate and allocate costs 
internally.  The County uses an internal service fund to account for its self-insurance.  Because these 
services predominantly benefit governmental rather than business-type functions, they have been 
included within governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  The County does 
not maintain an enterprise fund. 
 
Fiduciary Funds.  Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held on behalf of outside parties, 
including other governments.  Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial 
statement because the resources of those funds are not available to support the County’s own 
programs.  The accounting used for fiduciary funds is similar to that used for proprietary funds. 
 
The basic fiduciary fund financial statement can be found on page 20. 
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Notes to the financial statements.  The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.  The notes to 
the financial statements can be found starting on page 23 of this report.  
 
Required supplementary information.  The required supplementary information includes budgetary 
comparison information for the General Fund and notes thereto, as well as the schedule of funding 
progress, starting on page 52. 
 
Other information.  Combining and individual fund statements and schedules can be found starting on 
page 55 of this report.   
 
Government-Wide Financial Analysis 
 
Net Assets:  As stated earlier, an analysis of net assets is probably the most important financial 
measurement to assist with understanding the financial position of the County, and whether the 
financial position improves or deteriorates each year.  The following table presents summary 
information from the Statement of Net Assets in the Basic Financial Statements. 
 

Primary Primary

Government Government

Governmental Governmental Business-type Governmental Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Activities Activities Activities Activities

Current and other assets 74.91$              15.09$              41.91$              62.19$              14.07$               39.99$               

Capital assets 66.72                15.26                62.84                67.36                12.56                 61.50                 

Total assets 141.63              30.35                104.75              129.55              26.63                 101.49               

Current liabilities 36.25                9.11                  6.33                  31.15                8.40                   5.69                   

Non-current liabilities 1.27                  0.32                  24.85                1.61                  0.32                   25.54                 

Total liabilities 37.52                9.43                  31.18                32.76                8.72                   31.23                 

Net assets:

Investment in capital assets,

net of related debt 66.19                14.64                37.29                66.19                12.06                 35.29                 

Restricted 7.75                  0.31                  0.48                  4.04                  0.01                   0.48                   

Unrestricted 30.17                5.97                  35.80                26.56                5.84                   34.49                 

Total net assets 104.11$            20.92$              73.57$              96.79$              17.91$               70.26$               

Summary of Net Assets

(In Millions)

Component Units Component Units

2012 2011 

 
As depicted, at June 30, 2012, the County’s Primary government and component unit assets exceeded 
liabilities by approximately $104.11 and $94.49 million (net assets) respectively.  64% and 55% 
respectively of this amount is represented by the investment in capital assets, net of debt still 
outstanding relating to the acquisition of those assets.  Due to the nature of these assets - long-term 
assets which are not readily convertible to liquid assets – they are not considered to be available for 
spending or appropriation.  Further, even though the presentation here shows capital assets net of 
related debt, it should be understood that the repayment of this debt does not come from the capital 
assets themselves, but comes from other sources. 
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Other sub-classifications of net assets are restricted and unrestricted.  Approximately $7.75 million is 
restricted to expenditures in the Jail Tax Fund, CDC Tax Fund, state and county roads, and subdivision 
inspection fees.  
 
Changes in Net Assets:  As taken from the Statement of Activities in the basic financial statements, 
the following table depicts the changes in net assets for 2012. 
 

Primary Primary

Government Government

Governmental Governmental Business-type Governmental Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Activities Activities Activities Activities

Revenues:

Program Revenues:

Charges for services 2.00$                3.87$                55.44$              1.98$                3.52$                 54.67$               

Operating grants 7.37                  8.95                  -                    7.27                  8.28                   -                     

Capital grants and cont. 6.59                  2.69                  -                    -                    0.20                   0.45                   

General Revenues:

Property taxes 22.41                6.69                  -                    17.47                7.97                   -                     

Sales taxes 17.58                0.46                  -                    10.14                0.58                   1.05                   

State appropriations -                   0.30                  -                    -                    -                     -                     

Licenses and permits 1.48                  -                    -                    1.31                  -                     -                     

Other income 0.10                  0.41                  1.62                  0.02                  0.88                   1.22                   

Interest income 0.62                  0.02                  0.26                  0.64                  0.03                   0.23                   

Transfers, donations and 

losses -                   -                    -                    -                    -                     -                     

Total revenues 58.15                23.39                57.32                38.83                21.46                 57.62                 

Expenses:

General government 15.49                -                    -                    18.16                -                     -                     

Public safety 16.51                -                    -                    15.43                -                     -                     

Road and bridge 13.63                -                    -                    8.44                  -                     -                     

Health, recreation

and welfare 4.49                  20.81                -                    3.01                  21.44                 -                     

Conservation of

natural resources 0.28                  -                    -                    0.22                  -                     -                     

Memorial Hospital of

Sweetwater County -                   -                    54.01                -                    -                     50.25                 

Total expenses 50.40                20.81                54.01                45.26                21.44                 50.25                 

Change in net assets 7.75                  2.58                  3.31                  (6.43)                 0.02                   7.37                   

Net assets-Beginning (restated) 96.36                18.34                70.26                103.22              17.89                 62.89                 

Net assets-Ending 104.11$            20.92$              73.57$              96.79$              17.91$               70.26$               

2012 2011

Component Units Component Units

Summary of Changes in Net Assets

(In Millions)
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Governmental activities.  Governmental activities for the primary government increased the County’s 
net assets by approximately $7.75 million.  The key elements of this increase are as follows: 
 

 Property taxes increased by approximately $4.94 million.  This is a 28% increase over the prior 
year.  Capital grant and contribution revenues increased by approximately $6.59 million for a 
100% increase over the prior year. 

 Public Safety is the largest expenditure program accounting for 33% of the total expenditures for 
the County.  General government is second at 31% and Road and bridge is third with 27%. 

 Primary government expenditures increased by approximately $5.1 million or 11% over the 
previous year. 

 
Business-type activities.  The business type activity is the Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County.  
Key elements of its activities are as follows: 
 

 Revenues decreased by approximately $.3 million or 0.5% over the prior year. 

 Expenses increased by approximately $3.76 million or 7% over the prior year. 

 Revenues were in excess of expenditures increasing net assets by approximately $3.3 million. 
 
General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
 

Variance with Variance with

Final Budget Final Budget

Positive Positive

Original Final Actual (Negative) Original Final Actual (Negative)

Revenues:

Taxes 31.99$     31.99$    34.15$    2.16$                35.76$     27.68$    27.65$    (0.03)$               

Licenses and permits 1.37         1.37        1.48        0.11                  1.44         1.52        1.31        (0.21)                

Intergovernmental 8.53         10.71      8.84        (1.87)                7.31         7.87        6.69        (1.18)                

Charges for services 0.78         0.78        1.57        0.79                  0.94         0.92        1.54        0.62                  

Interest 0.44         0.44        0.52        0.08                  1.00         1.00        0.55        (0.45)                

Miscellaneous 0.74         0.79        0.10        (0.69)                0.79         0.79        0.09        (0.70)                

Total revenues 43.85       46.08      46.66      0.58                  47.24       39.78      37.83      (1.95)                

Expenditures:

General government 17.38       15.47      14.26      1.21                  21.69       16.97      15.35      1.62                  

Public safety 14.01       15.49      13.96      1.53                  15.59       17.37      14.60      2.77                  

Road and bridge 3.74         3.78        3.62        0.16                  4.75         4.98        4.47        0.51                  

Health, recreation and 

welfare 2.08         5.59        4.51        1.08                  1.08         3.28        3.07        0.21                  

Conservation of natural 

resources 0.25         0.27        0.27        -                   0.02         0.24        0.21        0.03                  

Capital outlay 6.82         8.61        5.50        3.11                  2.31         6.51        5.20        1.31                  

Total expenditures 44.28       49.21      42.12      7.09                  45.44       49.35      42.90      6.45                  

Transfers from other funds -           0.50        0.50        -                   (2.00)        1.60        1.60        -                   

Net change in Fund 

Balance (0.43)$      (2.63)$     5.04$      7.67$                (0.20)$      (7.97)$     (3.47)$     4.50$                

(In Millions)

2012 2011

Budgeted Amounts Budgeted Amounts
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The differences between the original budget and the final amounts represent changes made by the 
commission as additional facts and information became available.  Several factors lead to these 
modifications.  They include:  economic factors, change in governing officials, emergency purchases, 
and other factors. 
 
Tax revenues were over the budgeted amounts due to the condition of the local and state economies 
during the year.   
 
General government expenditures were under budget primarily due to projects which were either not 
undertaken or completed during the year. 
 
Capital assets 
 
At the end of the year, for governmental activities, the County and its component units had invested 
$81.98 million in a variety of capital assets, as reflected in the following schedules, which represents an 
increase of $2.06 million or 2.6% from last year.  The following schedules show the capital assets for 
the primary government, component units and the component unit business-type activities for the year 
ended June 30, 2012.  Additional information on the County’s capital assets can be found in Note 9 of 
this report. 
 

Primary Government

Balance Deletions/ Balance
June 30, 2011 Additions Transfers June 30, 2012

Capital assets not being

   depreciated:

Land 783,187$             289,014$             -$                         1,072,201$          

Construction in progress 4,101,378            5,245,984            (2,421,331)           6,926,031            

Total capital assets not

   being depreciated 4,884,565            5,534,998            (2,421,331)           7,998,232            

Capital assets being

  depreciated:

Buildings and 

  improvements 25,864,796          2,207,396            960,199               29,032,391          

Equipment and

  furnishings 16,811,364          547,163               (61,490)                17,297,037          

Infrastructure 110,845,558        2,257,954            (4,465,112)           108,638,400        

Total capital assets being

   depreciated 153,521,718        5,012,513            (3,566,403)           154,967,828        

Less: Accumulated

  depreciation:

Buildings and 

  improvements (8,351,103)           (695,825)              -                           (9,046,928)           

Equipment and

  furnishings (9,906,083)           (1,461,233)           59,219                 (11,308,097)         

Infrastructure (72,784,644)         (3,130,851)           24,693                 (75,890,802)         

Total accumulated

depreciation (91,041,830)         (5,287,909)           83,912                 (96,245,827)         

Net depreciable assets 62,479,888          (275,396)              (3,482,491)           58,722,001          

Total net capital assets 67,364,453$        5,259,602$          (5,903,822)$         66,720,233$        
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Component Units
Balance Deletions/ Balance

June 30, 2011 Additions Transfers June 30, 2012

Capital assets not being
   depreciated:

Construction in progress 104,095$             3,222,661$          (172,628)$            3,154,128$          

Capital assets being
   depreciated:

Buildings and 
  improvements 30,130,259          363,735               172,628               30,666,622          
Equipment and
  furnishings 3,440,447            57,311                 14,517                 3,512,275            

Total capital assets being
   depreciated 33,570,706          421,046               187,145               34,178,897          

Less: Accumulated
  depreciation:

Buildings and 
  improvements (18,718,752)         (732,743)              -                           (19,451,495)         
Equipment and
  furnishings (2,396,660)           (211,606)              (14,517)                (2,622,783)           

Total accumulated
depreciation (21,115,412)         (944,349)              (14,517)                (22,074,278)         

Net depreciable 
capital assets 12,455,294          (523,303)              172,628               12,104,619          

Total net capital assets 12,559,389$        2,699,358$          -$                         15,258,747$        

Business-Type Activities
Balance Deletions/ Balance

June 30, 2011 Additions Transfers June 30, 2012

Capital assets not being
   depreciated:

Land 18,245$               -$                         -$                         18,245$               
Construction in progress 1,274,783            6,800,062            (3,257,066)           4,817,779            

Total capital assets not
   being depreciated 1,293,028            6,800,062            (3,257,066)           4,836,024            

Capital assets being
   depreciated:

Buildings and 
  improvements 27,923,401          413,352               (3,355)                  28,333,398          
Equipment and
  furnishings 65,613,995          2,843,714            (2,742,683)           65,715,026          

Total capital assets being
   depreciated 93,537,396          3,257,066            (2,746,038)           94,048,424          

Less: Accumulated
  depreciation:

Buildings and 
  improvements (8,182,900)           (1,039,861)           -                           (9,222,761)           
Equipment and
  furnishings (25,150,835)         (4,350,176)           2,677,544            (26,823,467)         

Total accumulated
depreciation (33,333,735)         (5,390,037)           2,677,544            (36,046,228)         

Net depreciable assets 60,203,661          (2,132,971)           (68,494)                58,002,196          

Total net capital assets 61,496,689$        4,667,091$          (3,325,560)$         62,838,220$        
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Long-term debt 
 

At year-end, the County had $3,165,437 in long-term debt.  In addition, governmental-type component 
units of the County had $1,217,506 in long-term debt and the business-type component unit of the 
County had $26,647,337 in long-term debt.  Debt consists of Compensated absences, net OPEB 
obligation, Capital leases, Hospital Revenue Bonds and a note payable.  State statute allows the 
County to have 2% of its assessed valuation in general bonded debt.  Additional information on the 
County’s long-term debt can be found in Notes 11 through 15 and Note 21 of this report.    
 

Primary Government

Balance at Balance at Due within
June 30, 2011 Additions Reductions June 30, 2012 one year

Net OPEB obligation 926,119$             415,013$             (122,420)$            1,218,712$          -$                         

Compensated absences 1,398,659            1,386,088            (1,365,245)           1,419,502            1,365,245            

Capital leases 1,176,553            -                           (649,330)              527,223               527,223               

Total long-term liabilities 3,501,331$          1,801,101$          (2,136,995)$         3,165,437$          1,892,468$          

Governmental-Type

Component Units

Compensated absences 555,365$             1,095,982$          (1,054,044)$         597,303$             597,303$             

Notes payable 405,252               312,000               (132,027)              585,225               262,728               

Capital leases 99,225                 -                           (64,247)                34,978                 34,978                 

Total long-term liabilities 1,059,842$          1,407,982$          (1,250,318)$         1,217,506$          895,009$             

Business-Type

Component Unit

Compensated absences 862,302$             1,097,337$          (862,302)$            1,097,337$          1,097,337$          

Hospital revenue bonds 26,225,000          -                           (675,000)              25,550,000          700,000               

Total long-term liabilities 27,087,302$        1,097,337$          (1,537,302)$         26,647,337$        1,797,337$          

 
 
Requests for Information 
 
This financial report is designed to provide citizens, customers, investors, creditors and others with a 
general overview of the County’s finances and to demonstrate the County’s accountability for the 
money it receives.  Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report, or requests for 
additional financial information should be addressed to the office of the Sweetwater County Clerk. 
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
June 30, 2012

Primary
Government

Business-Type
Activity

Governmental Governmental Memorial
ASSETS Activities Activities Hospital Total
Current Assets

Cash and investments 27,163,858  $      6,505,112  $        14,995,114  $       21,500,226  $      
Due from other governments 1,630,656           -                      -                       -                      
Accounts receivable, net 27,549,891         7,238,520           7,939,965            15,178,485         
Grants receivable 1,217,327           840,723              -                       840,723              
Note receivable 123,600              -                      -                       -                      
Inventories 569,627              72,260                1,601,201            1,673,461           
Prepaid items 363,339              130,359              968,556               1,098,915           

Total current assets 58,618,298           14,786,974           25,504,836           40,291,810           
Noncurrent Assets

Cash and investments 16,107,860         -                      15,133,152          15,133,152         
Due from Library Foundation -                      306,955              -                       306,955              
Notes receivable 188,400              -                      294,885               294,885              
Rental property, net -                      -                      541,899               541,899              
Deferred financing costs -                      -                      439,809               439,809              
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land 1,072,201           -                      18,245                 18,245                
Construction in progress 6,926,031           3,154,128           4,817,779            7,971,907           

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements 29,032,391         30,666,622         28,333,398          59,000,020         
Equipment and furnishings 17,297,037         3,512,275           65,715,026          69,227,301         
Infrastructure 108,638,400       -                      -                       -                      
Accumulated depreciation (96,245,827)        (22,074,278)        (36,046,228)         (58,120,506)        

Total noncurrent assets 83,016,493           15,565,702           79,247,965           94,813,667           
Total assets 141,634,791         30,352,676           104,752,801         135,105,477         

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Warrants and vouchers payable 3,314,571           1,096,341           2,864,987            3,961,328           
Accrued liabilities 482,916              120,028              1,509,703            1,629,731           
Court bonds and other funds held 88,982                -                      -                       -                      
Deferred revenue 30,472,498         6,997,377           -                       6,997,377           
Estimated third-party payor settlements -                      -                      164,000               164,000              
Notes payable, due within one year -                      262,728              700,000               962,728              
Capital leases payable, due within one year 527,223              34,978                -                       34,978                
Compensated absences, due within one year 1,365,245           597,303              1,097,337            1,694,640           

Total current liabilities 36,251,435           9,108,755             6,336,027             15,444,782           
Noncurrent Liabilities

Net OPEB obligation 1,218,712           -                      -                       -                      
Notes payable, due in more than one year -                      322,497              24,850,000          25,172,497         
Compensated absences, due in more than one year 54,257                -                      -                       -                      

Total noncurrent liabilities 1,272,969             322,497                24,850,000           25,172,497           
 Total liabilities 37,524,404           9,431,252             31,186,027           40,617,279           

NET ASSETS
Investment in capital assets, net of related debt 66,193,010         14,638,544         37,288,220          51,926,764         
Restricted for:

Jail Tax Fund 744,823              -                      -                       -                      
State and county roads 2,767,714           -                      -                       -                      
CDC building 4,171,287           -                      -                       -                      
Subdivision inspection fees 67,031                -                      -                       -                      
Endowment challenge program -                      306,955              -                       306,955              
Tipple building -                      9,500                  -                       9,500                  
Restricted by contributors and grantors for 

capital acquisition -                      -                      473,223               473,223              
Restricted for debt service and reserve -                      -                      5,052                   5,052                  

Unrestricted 30,166,522         5,966,425           35,800,279          41,766,704         
Total net assets 104,110,387  $    20,921,424  $      73,566,774  $       94,488,198  $      

See Notes to Financial Statements.

Component Units
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Primary
Business-Type

Charges for Operating Capital Activity
Sales and Grants and Grants and Governmental Governmental Memorial

FUNCTIONS/PROGRAMS Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Hospital Total

Primary Government
Governmental activities:

General government 15,492,477  $  802,673  $     3,279,862  $ 2,164,248  $  (9,245,694)  $    -$                -$                -$                 
Public safety 16,512,442      1,197,277     1,399,211    -                (13,915,954)      -                 -                 -                  
Road and bridge 13,626,197      -                989,121       4,425,747     (8,211,329)        -                 -                 -                  
Health, recreation and welfare 4,494,629        -                1,690,523    -                (2,804,106)        -                 -                 -                  
Conservation of natural resources 275,556           -                13,803         -                (261,753)           -                 -                 -                  

Total governmental activities 50,401,301      1,999,950       7,372,520      6,589,995       (34,438,836)       -                   -                   -                   

Component Units
Governmental activities 20,807,705      3,869,571     8,946,069    2,691,345     -                    (5,300,720)     -                 (5,300,720)     
Business-type activities 54,013,760      55,437,585   -              2,771            -                    -                 1,426,596      1,426,596      

Total component units 74,821,465  $  59,307,156  $ 8,946,069  $  2,694,116  $   -                     (5,300,720)       1,426,596        (3,874,124)       

General Revenues
Taxes:

Property taxes 22,414,395        6,692,446      -                 6,692,446      
Sales and other taxes 17,586,666        462,775         -                 462,775         

State appropriations -                    306,955         -                 306,955         
Licenses and permits 1,476,854          -                 -                 -                  
Other income 93,078               403,862         1,614,955      2,018,817      
Interest income 620,517             20,351           259,522         279,873         

Total general revenues 42,191,510         7,886,389        1,874,477        9,760,866        

Change in net assets 7,752,674           2,585,669        3,301,073        5,886,742        

Net Assets, beginning, as previously reported 96,788,280         17,905,188      70,265,701      88,170,889      
Prior period adjustment (430,567)            430,567           -                   430,567           

Net Assets, beginning, as restated 96,357,713        18,335,755    70,265,701    88,601,456    

Net Assets, ending 104,110,387  $   20,921,424  $  73,566,774  $  94,488,198  $  

See Notes to Financial Statements.

Component Units
Program Revenues

Changes in Net Assets
Net (Expenses) Revenues and
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
June 30, 2012

Nonmajor Total
General Governmental Governmental

ASSETS Fund Funds Funds

Cash and investments 30,519,506  $   7,029,818  $     37,549,324  $     
Due from other governments 1,481,059       149,597          1,630,656          
Due from other funds 77,303            -                   77,303               
Receivables:

Taxes and interest on taxes 27,361,813     -                   27,361,813         
Accrued interest 188,078          -                   188,078             
Grants 1,217,327       -                   1,217,327          

Note receivable 312,000          -                   312,000             
Inventories 569,627          -                   569,627             
Prepaid items 522,162          -                   522,162             

Total assets 62,248,875  $  7,179,415  $    69,428,290  $     

LIABILITIES
Warrants and vouchers payable 3,069,032  $    245,539  $       3,314,571  $      
Due to other funds -                  77,303            77,303               
Court bonds and other funds held 88,982            -                   88,982               
Deferred revenue 30,471,044     -                   30,471,044         

 Total liabilities 33,629,058       322,842            33,951,900         

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable:

Inventories 569,627          -                   569,627             
Prepaid items 522,162          -                   522,162             
Note receivable 312,000          -                   312,000             

Restricted for:
Jail maintenance and operations -                  744,823          744,823             
State and county roads 827,251          1,940,463       2,767,714          
CDC Building -                  4,171,287       4,171,287          
Subdivision inspection fees 67,031            -                   67,031               

Committed to:
Capital replacements 8,385,396       -                   8,385,396          
Impact tax 41,941            -                   41,941               
Economic development infrastructure 111,162          -                   111,162             
Insurance reserves 1,650,000       -                   1,650,000          

Assigned to:
Hospital maintenance 2,200              -                   2,200                 

Unassigned 16,131,047     -                   16,131,047         

Total fund balances 28,619,817       6,856,573         35,476,390         

Total liabilities and fund balances 62,248,875  $  7,179,415  $    69,428,290  $     

See Notes to Financial Statements.  
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET
  TO THE STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
June 30, 2012

Total Fund Balances - Governmental Funds 35,476,390$      

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of
net assets are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial
resources and, therefore, not reported in the governmental funds. 66,720,233        

Some of the County's revenues will be collected after year-end but
are not available soon enough to pay for the current period's 
expenditures and, therefore, are deferred in the funds. 109,264            

Long-term liabilities, including net OPEB obligation, capital leases payable, 
accrued interest expense on capital leases, and compensated absences, 
are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore, are not 
reported in the funds. (3,174,248)        

An internal service fund is used by management to charge the costs of
certain activities to individual funds.  The assets and liabilities of this
internal service fund are included with governmental activities in the
statement of net assets. 4,978,748          

Net assets of governmental activities 104,110,387$    

See Notes to Financial Statements.  
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Nonmajor Total
General Governmental Governmental

Fund Funds Funds

Revenue
Taxes 34,151,659  $   5,986,284  $     40,137,943  $    
Licenses and permits 1,476,854        -                    1,476,854          
Intergovernmental revenue 8,843,367        693,401           9,536,768          
Charges for services 1,570,666        429,284           1,999,950          
Interest 524,516           9,155                533,671             
Miscellaneous 93,078             -                    93,078               

Total revenue 46,660,140        7,118,124          53,778,264         

Expenditures
Current:

General government 14,257,317      -                    14,257,317        
Public safety 13,956,954      1,849,150        15,806,104        
Road and bridge 3,618,945        846                   3,619,791          
Health, recreation and welfare 4,509,843        -                    4,509,843          
Conservation of natural resources 275,556           -                    275,556             

Capital outlay 5,504,649        1,816,380        7,321,029          

Total expenditures 42,123,264        3,666,376          45,789,640         

Excess of revenue over
expenditures 4,536,876        3,451,748        7,988,624          

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers from/(to) other funds 500,000           (500,000)          -                     
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 1,826               -                    1,826                 

Net change in fund balances 5,038,702        2,951,748        7,990,450          

Fund Balance, beginning, as previously reported 24,011,682      3,904,825        27,916,507        
Prior period adjustment (430,567)          -                    (430,567)            

Fund Balance, beginning, as restated 23,581,115      3,904,825        27,485,940        

Fund Balance, ending 28,619,817  $   6,856,573  $     35,476,390  $    

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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 SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Net Change in Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds 7,990,450  $     

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities
are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However,
in the statement of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over
their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.  This
is the amount by which capital purchases and contributions exceeded
depreciation in the current period. 5,259,602         

Governmental funds do not report gains and losses on sales, retirements,
or donations of fixed assets.  However, the statement of activities 
reports these amounts. (5,903,822)       

The statement of activities reports a decrease in revenue due to current
activity in deferred revenues which is not reported at the fund level. (136,882)          

The net OPEB obligation and the liability for compensated absences are 
not recorded in the fund level, but are reported in the statement of net 
assets. This is the current year change in these liabilities, reported as 
an expense in the statement of activities. (313,436)          

Repayment of capital lease principal is an expenditure in the governmental 
funds, but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of  
net assets.  This is offset by the total capital leases issued during the 
year, if any. 661,244            

Internal service funds are accounted for as proprietary funds, therefore,
they are not included in the governmental funds. 195,518            

Change in net assets of governmental activities 7,752,674  $     

See Notes to Financial Statements.  
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF FUND NET ASSETS 
PROPRIETARY FUND
June 30, 2012

Internal
Service

Insurance
ASSETS Fund

Current Assets
Cash and investments 5,722,394  $    
Prepaid expenses 77,596            

Total assets 5,799,990        

LIABILITIES AND FUND EQUITY 

Current Liabilities
Accrued liabilities 474,105           
Deferred revenue 347,137           

 Total current liabilities 821,242           

Net Assets
Unrestricted 4,978,748        

Total net assets 4,978,748  $    

See Notes to Financial Statements.  
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND 
NET ASSETS

PROPRIETARY FUND
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Internal
Service

Insurance
Fund

Operating Revenues
Insurance premiums 5,173,682  $    

Operating Expenses
Insurance claims 5,065,010        

Operating income 108,672           

Nonoperating Revenue 
Interest income 86,846             

Change in net assets 195,518           

Net Assets 
Beginning of year 4,783,230        

End of year 4,978,748  $    

See Notes to Financial Statements.  
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUND
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Internal
Service

Insurance
Fund

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Cash receipts on premiums 5,256,411  $      
Payments on insurance claims (5,088,319)        

Net cash provided by operating activities 168,092             

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest income 86,846              

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 254,938             

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Beginning of year 5,467,456          

End of year 5,722,394  $      

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash
Provided by Operating Activities
Operating income 108,672  $         
Adjustments to reconcile operating income

to net cash provided by operating activities:
Change in assets and liabilities:

Prepaid expenses 4,231                
Accrued liabilities (27,540)             
Deferred revenue 82,729              

Net cash provided by operating activities 168,092  $         

See Notes to Financial Statements.  
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS 
AGENCY FUND
June 30, 2012

Property
Tax

ASSETS Fund

Cash 11,887,461  $     
Due from other governments 2,181                 
Property taxes and interest 

receivable 1,041,652           

12,931,294  $     

LIABILITIES 
Due to other taxing units 12,931,294  $     

See Notes to Financial Statements.  
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
DISCRETELY PRESENTED GOVERNMENTAL TYPE COMPONENT UNITS
June 30, 2012

Nonmajor Total
Mental Events Library Component Component

ASSETS Health Complex System Units Units

Cash and investments 2,894,127  $    912,723  $       1,650,149  $    1,048,113  $    6,505,112  $    
Due from Library Foundation -                   -                   306,955           -                   306,955           
Receivables:

Taxes and interest on taxes 670,095           1,861,052        3,084,130        728,129           6,343,406        
Accounts and insurance credits 736,990           68,247             3,633               86,244             895,114           
Grants 111,503           702,573           -                   26,647             840,723           

Inventories -                   44,295             27,965             -                   72,260             
Prepaid items 53,468             39,162             -                   37,729             130,359           
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Construction in progress -                   3,154,128        -                   -                   3,154,128        
Capital assets being depreciated:

Buildings and improvements 6,460,234        12,001,714      2,823,696        9,380,978        30,666,622      
Equipment and furnishings 835,337           2,031,985        185,660           459,293           3,512,275        
Accumulated depreciation (3,647,179)       (8,267,522)       (2,302,658)       (7,856,919)       (22,074,278)     

Total assets 8,114,575  $    12,548,357  $ 5,779,530  $   3,910,214  $    30,352,676  $ 

LIABILITIES 

Warrants and vouchers payable 124,460  $       842,828  $       104,859  $       24,194  $         1,096,341  $    
Accrued expenses -                   48,973             39,654             31,401             120,028           
Deferred revenue 663,369           2,556,658        3,059,200        718,150           6,997,377        
Notes payable:

Due within one year 139,128           123,600           -                   -                   262,728           
Due in more than one year 134,097           188,400           -                   -                   322,497           

Capital leases payable:
Due within one year -                   34,978             -                   -                   34,978             

Compensated absences:
Due within one year 219,516           118,188           156,361           103,238           597,303           

 Total liabilities 1,280,570        3,913,625        3,360,074        876,983           9,431,252        

NET ASSETS
Investment in capital assets, net of

related debt 3,375,167        8,573,327        706,698           1,983,352        14,638,544      
Restricted for:

Endowment challenge program -                   -                   306,955           -                   306,955           
Tipple building -                   -                   -                   9,500               9,500               

Unrestricted 3,458,838        61,405             1,405,803        1,040,379        5,966,425        

Total fund balances 6,834,005  $    8,634,732  $    2,419,456  $    3,033,231  $    20,921,424  $  

See Notes to Financial Statements.  
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
DISCRETELY PRESENTED GOVERNMENTAL TYPE COMPONENT UNITS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Operating Capital Nonmajor Total
Charges for Grants and Grants and Mental Events Library Component Component

Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Health Complex System Units Funds

Mental Health
Health, recreation and welfare 9,327,743  $    2,328,617  $  7,206,100  $  -$                206,974  $      -$               -$               -$               206,974  $       

Events Complex
Health, recreation and welfare 4,690,085        1,029,767      117,949         2,691,345       -                  (851,024)        -                 -                 (851,024)          

Library System
Health, recreation and welfare 3,636,730        -                 -                 -                  -                  -                 (3,636,730)     -                 (3,636,730)       

Nonmajor Component Units
Health, recreation and welfare 3,153,147        511,187         1,622,020      -                  -                  -                 -                 (1,019,940)     (1,019,940)       

Total component units 20,807,705  $  3,869,571  $ 8,946,069  $ 2,691,345  $  206,974         (851,024)      (3,636,730)   (1,019,940)   (5,300,720)     

General Revenues
Taxes:

Property taxes 826,045          1,952,490      3,088,584      825,327         6,692,446        
Sales and other taxes 54,888            140,478         223,240         44,169           462,775           

State appropriations -                  -                 306,955         -                 306,955           
Other income 13,644            276,744         113,474         -                 403,862           
Interest income 3,664              880                14,088           1,719             20,351             

Total general revenues 898,241          2,370,592      3,746,341      871,215         7,886,389        

Change in net assets 1,105,215       1,519,568      109,611         (148,725)        2,585,669        

Net Assets, beginning, as previously reported 5,728,790       7,115,164      2,309,845      2,751,389      17,905,188      
Prior period adjustment -                  -                 -                 430,567         430,567           

Net Assets, beginning, as restated 5,728,790       7,115,164      2,309,845      3,181,956      18,335,755      

Net Assets, ending 6,834,005  $   8,634,732  $ 2,419,456  $ 3,033,231  $ 20,921,424  $ 

See Notes to Financial Statements.

Program Revenues Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Assets
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

 
Reporting entity:  The basic financial statements include all funds of the primary government, which is 
the County, as well as the component units determined to be included in the County’s financial reporting 
entity.  The decision to include a potential component unit in the County’s reporting entity is based on 
several criteria, including legal standing, fiscal dependency, and financial accountability.  Based on the 
application of these criteria, the following is a brief review of certain entities included in the County’s 
reporting entity. 
 
In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 14, The Financial 
Reporting Entity, entities over which the County has significant operational or financial relationships such 
as boards, commissions and authorities are considered component units.  Component units are either 
discretely presented or blended.  Discrete presentation entails reporting component unit financial data in 
columns separate from the financial data of the primary government (the County).  Blending requires the 
component unit’s balances and transactions be reported with the balances and transactions of the County. 
 
The following organizations comprise the County’s discretely presented component units: 
 

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County is a 99-bed general acute care facility located in Rock 
Springs, Wyoming.  The Hospital is owned by Sweetwater County.  The Hospital participates in 
the County’s tax levies.  For Federal income tax purposes, the Hospital is considered to be part of 
the County and, therefore, under current regulations, is exempt from Federal income taxes.  The 
Hospital is presented as a business-type component unit.  Complete financial statements for the 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County may be obtained at the entity’s administrative offices.   
 
The Sweetwater County Fair Board is a seven member board appointed by the County’s 
governing board to oversee the planning of the annual County fair and to oversee the daily 
operations of the Sweetwater County Events Complex located in Rock Springs, Wyoming.  The 
Fair Board participates in the County’s tax levies and receives grants from the County.  For 
Federal income tax purposes, the Fair Board is considered part of the County and, therefore, 
under current regulations, is exempt from Federal income taxes.  The Fair Board is a discretely 
presented governmental type component unit.  No separate financial statements for the Fair Board 
are available. 

 
Southwest Counseling Services provides mental health and substance abuse treatment, counseling 
and training to the citizenry of Sweetwater County.  The Mental Health Board is a seven-member 
board appointed by the County’s governing board to oversee the daily operations of Southwest 
Counseling Services.  Southwest Counseling Services participates in the County’s tax levies.  For 
Federal income tax purposes, Southwest Counseling Services is considered part of the County 
and, therefore, under current regulations, is exempt from Federal income taxes.  The Mental 
Health Board is a discretely presented governmental type component unit.  No separate financial 
statements for Southwest Counseling Services are available. 
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The Sweetwater County Library System has County libraries located in Green River, Wyoming 
and Rock Springs, Wyoming.  The Library Board is a five-member board appointed by the 
County’s governing board to oversee the daily operations of the Library System.  The Sweetwater 
County Library System participates in the County’s tax levies and receives grants from the 
County.  For Federal income tax purposes, the Library System is considered part of the County 
and, therefore, under current regulations, is exempt from Federal income taxes.  The Library 
System is a discretely presented governmental type component unit.  No separate financial 
statements for the Sweetwater County Library System are available. 
 
The Sweetwater County Museum is a local, historical, museum located in Green River, Wyoming.  
The Museum Board is a five-member board appointed by the County’s governing board to 
oversee the daily operations of the Museum.  The Sweetwater County Museum participates in the 
County’s tax levies and receives grants from the County.  For Federal income tax purposes, the 
Museum is considered part of the County and, therefore, under current regulations, is exempt 
from Federal income taxes.  The Museum is a discretely presented governmental type component 
unit.  No separate financial statements for the Sweetwater County Museum are available. 
 
The Sweetwater County Recreation Board is a seven-member board appointed by the County’s 
governing board to oversee the daily operations of the County parks and recreation centers.  The 
Sweetwater County Recreation Board participates in the County’s tax levies and receives grants 
from the County.  For Federal income tax purposes, the Recreation Board is considered part of 
the County and, therefore, under current regulations, is exempt from Federal income taxes.  The 
Recreation Board is a discretely presented governmental type component unit.  No separate 
financial statements for the Sweetwater County Recreation Board are available.   
 
The Sweetwater County Board of Health is a seven-member board three of which are appointed 
by the County’s governing board to oversee the daily operations of the County health department 
and nurses.  The Sweetwater County Board of Health participates in the County’s tax levies and 
receives grants from the County.  For Federal income tax purposes, the Board of Health is 
considered part of the County and, therefore, under current regulations, is exempt from Federal 
income taxes.  The Board of Health is a discretely presented governmental type component unit.  
No separate financial statements for the Sweetwater County Board of Health are available.   
 

Government-wide and fund financial statements:  The government-wide financial statements (i.e. the 
statement of net assets and statement of activities) report on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the 
County.  The effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements. 
 
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expense of a given function or 
segment is offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a 
specific function.  Program revenues include: 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or 
directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a function, and 2) grants and contributions 
that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function. 
 
Taxes and other items not included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. 
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Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds.  Major individual governmental funds 
are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements.  Nonmajor individual governmental 
funds are reported in a combined column. 
 
Measurement focus, basis of accounting, and financial statement presentation:  The government-wide 
financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis 
of accounting.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is 
incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the 
year for which they are levied.  Grants and similar items are recognized as soon as all eligibility 
requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 
 
Government fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement 
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both 
measurable and available.  Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectable within the 
current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities in the current period.  For this purpose, the 
County considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current 
fiscal period.  Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual 
accounting.  However, expenditures related to compensated absences are recorded only when payment is 
due. 
 
Those revenues susceptible to accrual are cigarette taxes, various grants, interest revenue and charges for 
services.  Sales taxes collected and held by the State at year end on behalf of the government are also 
recognized as revenue.  Fines and permits are not susceptible to accrual because generally they are not 
measurable until received in cash. 
 
Governmental fund:  The County reports the following major governmental fund: 
 

The general fund is the general operating fund of the County.  All general tax revenues and other 
receipts that are not allocated by law or contractual agreement to another fund are accounted for 
in this fund.  The general operating expenditures, the fixed charges, and the capital improvement 
costs that are not paid through other funds are paid from the general fund. 
 

The County’s nonmajor governmental funds include special revenue funds used to account for resources 
legally restricted to expenditure for specified current operating purposes.  Included as nonmajor special 
revenue funds of the County are the Enhanced 911 Fund, the State/County Road Fund, the CDC Tax 
Fund, and the Jail Tax Fund. 
 
Proprietary fund:  This fund type accounts for County activities that are similar to business operations in 
the private sector or where the reporting focus is on determining net income, financial position, and 
changes in financial position (economic resources measurement focus).  Proprietary funds distinguish 
operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.  Operating revenues and expenses generally 
result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s 
principal ongoing operations.   
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The internal service fund is used to account for the financing of goods or services provided by the 
County to the County itself on a cost-reimbursement basis.  The County’s employee insurance plan 
is accounted for as an internal service fund.  The principal operating revenues of the insurance fund 
are premiums paid by participating employees.  Operating expenses for the fund are the claims 
incurred during the year and an estimate for claims incurred but not reported. 
 
The internal service fund applies Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) pronouncements 
and Accounting Principles Board (APB) opinions issued on or before November 20, 1989, unless 
those pronouncements conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements, in which GASB prevails. 

 
Fiduciary funds:  Agency funds are used to account for assets held on behalf of outside parties, including 
other governments.  Agency funds are used to account for assets that the government holds on behalf of 
others as their agent, and the County’s responsibility for these funds is fiduciary in nature. 
 
Interfund transactions:  During the normal course of operations, transactions occur between individual 
funds for goods, services, and for short-term interfund loans or transfers.  As a general rule, the effect of 
the interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial statements. 
 
Inventories:  Inventories, consisting primarily of consumable supplies, are carried at lower of cost (first-
in, first-out method) or market.  Reported inventories in governmental funds are equally offset by 
nonspendable fund balance which indicates that they do not constitute “available spendable resources” 
even though such inventories are a component of the fund balance. 
 
Deferred financing costs – Memorial Hospital:  Deferred financing costs are amortized over the period the 
related obligation is outstanding upon the completion of the project using the straight-line method. 
 
Designated net assets – Memorial Hospital:  Of the $35,800,279 of unrestricted net assets reported in 
2012, $14,659,929 has been designated by the Hospital’s Board of Trustees for capital acquisitions.  
Designated funds remain under the control of the Board of Trustees, which may at its discretion later use 
the funds for other purposes. 
 
Capital assets:  Capital assets include land, buildings and improvements, equipment and furnishings, 
infrastructure (roads and bridges), and construction in progress.  These assets are reported in the 
government-wide financial statements.  The County defines capital assets as assets with a cost of more 
than $10,000 for machinery and equipment, $20,000 for infrastructure and improvements, $25,000 for 
capital improvements, or $2,000 for assets acquired by the Hospital.  Assets purchased or constructed are 
stated at cost.  Donated items are recorded at fair market value at the date of donation.  Expenditures 
which increase values, or extend useful lives, are capitalized.  Routine maintenance and repairs are 
charged to expense in the year incurred.  Depreciation has been provided over the estimated useful lives 
using the straight-line method.  Estimated useful lives for the major classes of depreciable assets are as 
follows: 
 
   Years   
 Buildings and improvements  5-50 
 Equipment and furnishings  4-20 
 Infrastructure  12-45 
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Fund balance:  The County reports fund balance in the governmental fund financial statements in one of 
the following five categories:  1) Nonspendable fund balance represents amounts that are not in spendable 
form for which the County includes prepaid items, inventories, and notes receivable; 2) Restricted fund 
balance represents amounts constrained to a specific purpose by their providers, through constitutional 
provisions, or by enabling legislation; 3) Committed fund balance represents amounts constrained to a 
specific purpose by the County Commissioners through formal motion.  Amounts reported as committed 
cannot be used for other purpose unless the County Commissioners make another formal motion; 4) 
Assigned fund balance represents amounts constrained by the County’s intent to use them for a specific 
purpose.  Although the County does not have a policy specific to assigned fund balance, other County 
policies authorize certain individuals to enter into purchase orders which may result in encumbrances at 
year end; and 5) Unassigned fund balance represents amounts that have not been restricted, committed or 
assigned to a specific purpose. 
 
As of June 30, 2012, the County does not have a policy on the order in which unrestricted (committed, 
assigned, or unassigned) resources are to be used when any of these amounts are available for 
expenditure.  As a result, the County assumes the default approach that resources be used in the following 
order: committed, assigned, and unassigned. 
 
Restricted funds:  Funds legally restricted for specific purposes are reported as restricted funds.  These 
funds are included in the net asset balance of the Jail Tax Fund, SC Road Fund, and CDC Tax Fund, as 
well as subdivision inspection fees and other state and county road reimbursements.  When both restricted 
and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the County’s policy to use restricted resources first, 
then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 
 
Expendable restricted net assets – Memorial Hospital:  Expendable restricted net assets are noncapital net 
assets that must be used for a particular purpose, as specified by creditors, grantors, or contributors 
external to the Hospital. 
 
Compensated absences:  Employees may accumulate and carryforward earned but unused sick leave up to 
a maximum of 120 days.  Employees are paid 25% of the balance of their unused sick days upon 
voluntary or involuntary termination of employment at the County, but are forfeited at Memorial 
Hospital.  Accrued unused vacation days are paid in full upon termination.  All vacation pay is accrued 
when incurred in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements.   
 
Risk management – Memorial Hospital:  The Hospital is exposed to various risks of loss from torts; theft 
of, damage to, and destruction of assets; business interruption; errors and omissions; employee injuries 
and illnesses; natural disasters; medical malpractice; and employee health, dental and accident benefits.  
Commercial insurance coverage is purchased for claims arising from such matters.  Settled claims have 
not exceeded this commercial coverage in any of the three preceding years. 
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Charity care - Memorial Hospital:  To fulfill its mission of community service, the Hospital provides care 
to patients who meet certain criteria under its charity care policy without charge or at amounts less than 
its established rates.  Because the Hospital does not pursue collection of amounts determined to qualify as 
charity care, they are not reported as net patient service revenue. 
 
The Hospital maintains records to identify and monitor the level of charity care it provides.  These records 
include the amount of charges foregone for services and supplies furnished under its charity care policy 
and equivalent service statistics.  The amount of charges foregone, based on established rates, was 
approximately $1,934,000 for the year ended June 30, 2012. 
 
Cash and investments:  Cash consists of demand deposit accounts, money market accounts and petty cash.  
Investments are carried at fair value and consist primarily of certificates of deposit and United States 
Government agencies bonds. 
 
Estimates:  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements.  Estimates also 
affect the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 
 
Noncurrent cash and investments – Memorial Hospital:  Interest and dividends are included in 
nonoperating revenues when earned.  Interest earnings on borrowed proceeds for capital acquisition are 
capitalized.   
 
The Hospital’s investments are maintained in accordance with Wyoming State Statute 9-4-831.  This 
statute limits the types of investments the Hospital may invest in as listed in Section 9-4-831(a).  The 
Hospital has adopted an investment policy as directed under Section 9-4-831(h). 
 
Restricted investments consist of funds restricted in accordance with bond indenture agreements and 
funds restricted by donor for an endowment and purchase of equipment.  Restricted investments that are 
available for obligations classified as current liabilities are reported in current assets. 
 
Notes receivable – Memorial Hospital:  Notes receivable are stated at principal amounts and are 
uncollateralized.  Payments on notes receivable are allocated to the outstanding principal and accrued 
interest balances.  Management reviews all notes receivable periodically and estimates a portion, if any, 
of the balance that will not be collected. 
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Note 2. Cash and Investments 

 
Cash and investments as of June 30, 2012 as classified in the accompanying financial statements consist 
of the following: 
 

Statement of Net Assets:
Primary Agency Mental Events Library

Government Funds Health Complex System Nonmajor
Cash and investments:

Deposits with financial 
institutions 18,399,848$   11,887,461$ 2,894,127$    912,723$       1,612,603$    1,048,113$    

Wyoming Government Invest-
ment Fund -                      -                    -                    -                    37,546           -                    

Investments:
FHLB 5,941,711       -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
FNMA 11,318,714     -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
FREDMAC 1,105,580       -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
FHLMC 6,505,865       -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

Total cash and investments 43,271,718$   11,887,461$ 2,894,127$    912,723$       1,650,149$    1,048,113$    

Governmental Type Component Units

 
Investments authorized by the County’s investment policy:  The County follows the guidelines set forth in 
Wyoming State Statute 9-4-831 as it relates to the investment of public funds.  The County’s investment 
policy requires investments to comply with State statutes, which generally allows the County to invest in 
U.S., state and local government securities and accounts of any bank and savings associations which are 
federally insured.  All investments made during the year were made within these statutory limits.  The 
County’s investment policy does not contain any specific provisions intended to limit the County’s 
exposure to interest rate risk, credit risk or concentration of credit risk. 
 
Part of the Library System’s investment activity is conducted in a local government investment pool.  The 
Wyoming Government Investment Fund (WGIF) was established pursuant to the Wyoming Statutory 
Trust Act.  Shares of this fund are offered exclusively to Wyoming governmental entities.  The fair value 
of the Library System’s position in this fund is the same as the value of the pool shares. 
 
Credit risk: Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to 
the holder of the investment.  This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized 
statistical rating organization.   
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The credit risk for the County’s investments is presented as follows: 
 

Credit Market
Rating Value

Category:
FHLB AAA 5,941,711  $     
FNMA AAA  11,318,714      
FREDMAC AAA  1,105,580        
FHLMC AAA  6,505,865        

 
 
Under the investment agreement with WGIF, the Library System has invested monies at a fixed contract 
rate of interest.  The WGIF fund received an AAAm rating by Standard & Poor’s (S&P) indicating that 
“safety is excellent,” and the pool has “superior capacity to maintain principal value and limit exposure to 
loss.” 
 
Custodial credit risk:  Custodial credit risk for deposits and certificates of deposit is the risk that, in the 
event of the failure of a depository financial institution, the County will not be able to recover its deposits 
or will not be able to recover collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.  Certain 
deposits held in County bank accounts are insured by Federal depository insurance or are collateralized 
with securities held by the custodian bank under safekeeping or Federal Reserve receipts in the name of 
the County and the financial institution.  As of June 30, 2012, the primary government had bank balances 
on deposit of $19,412,372, which were fully collateralized or insured.  As of June 30, 2012, the Agency 
Funds had bank balances on deposit of $11,887,461, which were fully collateralized or insured.  As of 
June 30, 2012, the governmental type component units of the County had bank balances on deposit of 
$7,343,518, which were fully collateralized or insured.  
 
The custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty (e.g. 
broker-dealer) to a transaction, a government will not be able to recover the value of its investment or 
collateral securities that are in the possession of another party.  With respect to investments, custodial 
credit risk generally applies only to direct investments in marketable securities.  As of June 30, 2012, all 
investment securities were held by either of the County’s two custodians and registered in the County’s 
name.  The County does not have a formal investment policy for custodial credit risk.  
 
Concentration of credit risk: Because there is minimal credit risk associated with investments issued by 
the U.S. government agencies or investments in government investment pools, which include all of the 
County’s investments, no further disclosure regarding concentrations of credit risk is required. 
 
Interest rate risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the 
fair value of an investment.  A majority of the bonds held in the County’s investment portfolio have call 
structures allowing the issuer to call that bond at specific times during the life of the bond.  These bonds 
are purchased because they add yield compared to buying a non-callable bond.  
 
The County has chosen the segmented time distribution method for its Interest Rate Disclosure.  Maturity 
assumptions have been made using a matrix analyzing interest rates versus final maturity dates of these 
callable securities.  The maturity assumptions or average life of the County’s securities are displayed in 
the Interest Rate Risk Table.  
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 Market 
 Less Than 1 

Year  1-5 Years 

FHLB 5,941,711  $     3,727,580  $     2,214,131  $     
FNMA 11,318,714     4,033,580       7,285,134         
FREDMAC 1,105,580       -                   1,105,580         
FHLMC 6,505,865       1,002,850       5,503,015         

24,871,870  $   8,764,010  $     16,107,860  $   

Interest Rate Risk Organized by Investment Type Using Segmented Time Distribution
As of June 30, 2012

Primary Government

 
 
The WGIF’s investment policy limits its exposure to market value fluctuations due to changes in interest 
rates by requiring that the fund’s portfolio maintain a dollar-weighted average maturity of less than 60 
days.  The weighted average maturity of the fund’s entire portfolio at June 30, 2012 was 52 days. 
 
Highly sensitive securities:  The County holds investments that are classified as “highly sensitive.”  These 
securities, because of their specific type and structure, are rate sensitive as market conditions change.  
Step-up bonds are structured so that the bonds, at strategic times during their life, will step-up to a higher 
interest rate if they are not called.  The portfolio holds $16,466,830, or 66%, of the securities in step-up 
structured bonds. 
 
 

Note 3. Cash and Investments – Memorial Hospital 

 
Interest rate risk:  The Hospital’s investment policy limits investments to maturities to 397 days or less to 
manage exposure to fair value losses arising from changing interest rates. 
 
Credit risk:  State law limits investments in commercial paper of corporations to be rated by Moody’s as 
P-1 or Standard and Poor’s as A1.  The Hospital has no investment policy that would further limit its 
investment options.  As of June 30, 2012, the Hospital’s investment in the WYO-STAR State Investment 
Pool was not rated by any investor service. 
 
Concentration of credit risk:  The Hospital places no limit on the amount the Hospital may invest with 
any one issuer.   
 
The carrying value of deposits and investments is included in the Hospital’s balance sheet as follows: 
 

Carrying value:
Deposits 5,581,685  $     
WYO-STAR State Pooled Funds 11,007,176      
Investments 13,539,405      

Total deposits and investments 30,128,266  $   
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Interest income:  Interest income of $259,522 for the year ended June 30, 2012 is made up entirely of 
interest income from deposits and patient accounts at collection. 
 
 

Note 4. Accounts Receivable 

 
Accounts receivable consists primarily of property taxes receivable and interest on delinquent property 
taxes.  Receivables also exist relating to accrued interest and services provided.  The following schedule 
summarizes the carrying amounts and fair values of accounts receivable at June 30, 2012: 
 

Primary Mental Events Library
Government Health Complex System Nonmajor

Taxes and interest on taxes 27,361,813  $    670,095  $       1,861,052  $    3,084,130  $     728,129  $         
Accounts receivable 188,078             2,459,823        68,247             3,633                86,768               
Allowance for doubtful accounts -                     (1,722,833)       -                   -                    (524)                  

Accounts receivable, net 27,549,891  $    1,407,085  $    1,929,299  $    3,087,763  $     814,373  $         

Governmental Type Component Units

 
Mental Health and the County Health Board provide services to patients under the Medicare and 
Medicaid programs, on the basis of prospectively determined contractual rates related to diagnosis or 
costs incurred.  The programs’ administrative procedures preclude final determination of amounts due 
Mental Health and the County until such time as the appropriate reports have been reviewed and settled 
by the respective administrative agencies.  In addition, laws and regulations governing the Medicare and 
Medicaid programs are complex and subject to interpretation.  As a result, there is at least a reasonable 
possibility that recorded estimates will change by a material amount in the near term. 
 
Memorial Hospital:  Accounts receivable at June 30, 2012 consists of the following: 
 

Patient receivables:
Receivable from patients and their insurance carriers 9,594,940  $     
Receivable from Medicare 1,024,691        
Receivable from Medicaid 276,897           

Total patient accounts receivable 10,896,528      
Less:  estimated allowance for uncollectible amounts (3,700,000)       

Net patient accounts receivable 7,196,528        
Other 743,437           

Accounts receivable, net 7,939,965  $     
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Note 5. Property Taxes 

 
Property taxes are assessed based on property values on January 1.  Taxes are levied on July 31 and are 
payable in two installments on September 1 and March 1.  The County bills and collects its own property 
taxes and also taxes for taxing entities within the County.  Collections of property taxes for these entities 
and remittance of them are accounted for in the Agency Fund.  County property tax revenues are 
recognized when levied to the extent that they result in current receivables, that is, collected within 60 
days of the fiscal year end.  Property taxes which are not current receivables are offset by deferred 
revenues on the fund financials, but are reported on the government-wide financial statements as revenue 
and receivables, with no amount being deferred when levied.  Property taxes receivable are recognized at 
the assessment date; however, revenue is not recognized until the levy date. 
 
 

Note 6. Retirement Plan 
 

The County participates in the State of Wyoming Retirement System (System), a statewide cost-sharing 
multiple-employer public employee retirement system.  The System issues a publicly available financial 
report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information.  This information is 
available from the Wyoming Retirement System; copies can be obtained at 6101 Yellowstone Road, Suite 
500, Cheyenne, Wyoming 82002. 
 
Substantially all County full-time or regular part-time employees are eligible to participate in the System.  
Employees qualify for a retirement allowance if they are 60 years old and have at least four years of 
service, or they may retire at age 50 and have at least four years of service but be subject to a reduction in 
benefits of 5% for each year below age 60, or they may retire at any age if they have 25 years of service 
or when a combination of age and years of service equal 85. 
 
Generally, for individuals with creditable service prior to July 1, 1981, the individuals received benefits 
based on the larger of a money purchase benefit structure or a formula basis.  The formula consists of 
multiplying the number of years of service by 2.125% for the members’ first 15 years of service and 
2.25% for all years after 15 by the final average salary.  The final average salary consists of the three 
highest continuous years of service. 
 
Benefits for individuals hired after July 1, 1981, are calculated only by the formula method. 
 
The System also provides disability retirement to any employee who becomes permanently incapacitated, 
mentally or physically, and who cannot continue in the performance of his duties.  Benefits are 
established by State statute. 
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Contributions and covered payroll:  State statutes require the County to contribute 7.12% of the 
employee’s gross annual salary to the retirement system and employees are required to contribute 7% of 
their gross annual salary.  The County has followed the allowed practice of paying the employee’s share 
of contributions for full-time employees for a total contribution of 14.12%.  The general County’s 
expenditures for employee pension costs during the years ended June 30, 2012, 2011 and 2010 were 
$1,375,594, $1,420,987 and $1,162,671, respectively, which equaled 100% of the required contributions 
for each year. 
 
Law enforcement personnel of the County sheriff’s department participate in a separate retirement plan 
through the System.  The plan requires the qualifying employees to contribute 8.6% of their gross pay to 
the retirement system and the County is required to contribute 8.6% of each participant’s salary.  The 
County has followed the allowed practice of paying the employee’s share of contributions for a total 
contribution of 17.2%.  The general County’s expenditures for law enforcement personnel pension costs 
during the years ended June 30, 2012, 2011 and 2010 were $837,674, $918,454 and $906,237, 
respectively, which equaled 100% of the required contributions for each year. 
 
Component units of the County also participate in the public employee retirement system.  The following 
schedule summarizes the contributions for the year ended June 30, 2012, which equaled 100% of the 
required contributions for that year: 

Mental Events Library
Health Complex System Nonmajor

Fiscal Year 2011-2012 697,035  $         123,885  $       261,950  $       203,479  $        

Component Units

 
 
 

Note 7. Employee Benefits – Memorial Hospital 

 
Defined contribution plan:  The Hospital has a Section 457 defined contribution pension plan that is 
available to all qualified Hospital employees.  The Hospital’s contribution to the plan is based on a 100% 
match of employee contributions up to a maximum of 7% of participant salaries.  The Hospital’s 
matching contributions are deposited into the 401(a) plan described below.  Employees are eligible to 
participate in the plan upon completion of three months of service and reaching the age of 21. 
 
The Hospital also has a Section 401(a) defined contribution pension plan that is available to all qualified 
Hospital employees.  The Hospital contributes up to 7% of participant salaries to the account.  Employees 
are eligible to participate in the plan upon completion of 90 days of service and reaching the age of 21. 
 
Total pension expense for the year ended June 30, 2012 was $818,196. 
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Note 8. General Obligation Debt 

 
At June 30, 2012, the County had no general obligation debt outstanding. 
 
The June 30, 2012 legal debt margin of the County is computed as follows: 
 

Assessed valuation, June 30, 2011 2,543,220,631  $     

Debt limit, 2% of assessed valuation 50,864,413  $          
Debt applicable to debt limit -                          

Legal debt margin 50,864,413  $          
 

 

Note 9. Capital Assets 

 
Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2012 was as follows: 
 
Primary government: 

Balance Deletions/ Balance
June 30, 2011 Additions Transfers June 30, 2012

General Government
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land 783,187$          289,014$          -$                      1,072,201$       
Construction in progress 4,101,378         5,245,984         (2,421,331)        6,926,031         

Total capital assets not
being depreciated 4,884,565         5,534,998         (2,421,331)        7,998,232         

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements 25,864,796       2,207,396         960,199            29,032,391       
Equipment and furnishings 16,811,364       547,163            (61,490)             17,297,037       
Infrastructure 110,845,558     2,257,954         (4,465,112)        108,638,400     

Total capital assets being
depreciated 153,521,718     5,012,513         (3,566,403)        154,967,828     

Less accumulated depreciation:
Buildings and improvements (8,351,103)        (695,825)           -                        (9,046,928)        
Equipment and furnishings (9,906,083)        (1,461,233)        59,219              (11,308,097)      
Infrastructure (72,784,644)      (3,130,851)        24,693              (75,890,802)      

Total accumulated depreciation (91,041,830)      (5,287,909)        83,912              (96,245,827)      
Total capital assets being

depreciated, net 62,479,888       (275,396)           (3,482,491)        58,722,001       

Governmental activities
capital assets, net 67,364,453$    5,259,602$      (5,903,822)$      66,720,233$    
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Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows: 
 
Governmental activities: 
 

General government 644,043  $        
Public safety  794,656           
Road and bridge  3,849,210        

Total depreciation, governmental activities 5,287,909  $     
 

 
Discretely presented governmental type component units:  Capital assets activity for the year ended June 
30, 2012 was as follows: 
 

Balance Deletions/ Balance
June 30, 2011 Additions Transfers June 30, 2012

Governmental Activities
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Construction in progress 104,095  $        3,222,661  $     (172,628)  $       3,154,128  $     

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements  30,130,259        363,735             172,628             30,666,622       
Equipment and furnishings  3,440,447          57,311               14,517               3,512,275         

Total capital assets being
depreciated  33,570,706        421,046             187,145             34,178,897       

Less accumulated depreciation:
Buildings and improvements (18,718,752)      (732,743)           -                    (19,451,495)      
Equipment and furnishings (2,396,660)        (211,606)           (14,517)             (2,622,783)        

Total accumulated depreciation (21,115,412)      (944,349)           (14,517)             (22,074,278)      
Total capital assets being

depreciated, net  12,455,294       (523,303)            172,628             12,104,619       

Government activities
capital assets, net 12,559,389  $  2,699,358  $    -$                  15,258,747  $  

 
Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the component units as follows: 
 
Governmental activities: 
 

Health, recreation, and welfare 944,349  $        

Total depreciation, governmental activities 944,349  $        
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Balance Deletions/ Balance
June 30, 2011 Additions Transfers June 30, 2012

Business-Type Activities
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land 18,245  $          -$                  -$                  18,245  $          
Construction in progress 1,274,783         6,800,062         (3,257,066)        4,817,779         

Total capital assets not
being depreciated 1,293,028         6,800,062         (3,257,066)        4,836,024         

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements  27,923,401        413,352            (3,355)                28,333,398       
Equipment and furnishings  65,613,995        2,843,714         (2,742,683)         65,715,026       

Total capital assets being
depreciated  93,537,396        3,257,066         (2,746,038)         94,048,424       

Less accumulated depreciation:
Buildings and improvements (8,182,900)        (1,039,861)        -                    (9,222,761)        
Equipment and furnishings (25,150,835)      (4,350,176)         2,677,544         (26,823,467)      

Total accumulated depreciation (33,333,735)      (5,390,037)         2,677,544         (36,046,228)      
Total capital assets being

depreciated, net  60,203,661       (2,132,971)        (68,494)              58,002,196       

Business-type activities
capital assets, net 61,496,689  $  4,667,091  $    (3,325,560)  $   62,838,220  $   

 
Construction in progress at June 30, 2012 represents the Electronic Medical Records project, which is 
expected to be completed in the fall of 2012.  Additional construction in progress at year end relates to the 
construction of a Medical Office Building.  This project is expected to be completed in fiscal year 2014, 
with a gross maximum price of approximately $14.9 million. 
 
 

Note 10. Joint Powers Agreements 

 
Airport Board: 
 
Under a joint powers agreement, the County and the City of Rock Springs share in the funding of the 
Rock Springs-Sweetwater County Airport.  The Airport is not financially dependent on the County.  The 
transactions of the Airport are not included in these financial statements. 
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Rock Springs, Green River, Sweetwater County Joint Powers Water Board: 
 
Under certain provisions of Wyoming State Statutes, the County has entered into an agreement with the 
City of Rock Springs and the City of Green River to form a Joint Powers Board for the purchase, 
financing, rehabilitation, and operation of a water supply distribution system for domestic and other uses 
serving Green River, Wyoming, Rock Springs, Wyoming and other areas in Sweetwater County, 
Wyoming. 
 
The Board consists of five members; two members from Green River, two members from Rock Springs, 
and one member from Sweetwater County. 
 
Once the system began operations, the participating cities became responsible for the maintenance, 
operation, staffing, rate setting, and billing for each distribution system as well as construction of storage 
facilities.  The cities lease these facilities from the Board on a year-to-year basis subject to annual 
appropriations by the cities. 
 
The financial transactions of this board are not included in these financial statements. 
 
Rock Springs, Green River, Sweetwater County Combined  
    Communications Joint Powers Board Agreement: 
 
Under certain provisions of Wyoming State Statutes, the County has entered into an agreement with the 
City of Rock Springs and the City of Green River to form a Joint Powers Board for the establishment of a 
Combined Communications Center (CCCJPB).  The purpose of the CCCJPB is to provide an efficient, 
orderly and economically feasible method of planning, financing, constructing, operating, and 
maintaining a Combined Communications Center to maximize efficiency and coordination in 
communications and dispatching between the Sweetwater County Sheriff’s Department, the Rock Springs 
Police Department, the Green River Police Department, and other law enforcement agencies. 
 
The CCCJPB consists of nine members; three members from Sweetwater County and three members 
from each of the participating cities. 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2012, the County recorded expenditures of $1,325,212 in the Enhanced 
911 Fund relating to the transfer of remaining resources in this fund to the CCCJPB as the CCCJPB is 
now administering the County’s 911 service. 
 
The financial transactions of the CCCJPB are not included in these financial statements.  However, 
additional financial information of the CCCJPB may be obtained by contacting the CCCJPB Treasurer, 
Lisa M. Tarufelli, at the City of Rock Springs, 212 D Street, Rock Springs, Wyoming 82901. 
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Note 11. Liability for Compensated Absences 

 
As described in Note 1, the general County and various County component units allow the accumulation 
of vested vacation and sick pay benefits, subject to set maximum hours.  The liability recorded for 
compensated absences consists of the following: 
 

Primary Mental Events Library
Government Health Complex System Nonmajor

Beginning balance 1,398,659  $      240,098  $       88,311  $         159,042  $        67,914  $           
Additions 1,386,088          689,334           103,913           164,660            138,075             
Reductions (1,365,245)         (709,916)          (74,036)            (167,341)           (102,751)           

Ending balance 1,419,502  $      219,516  $       118,188  $       156,361  $        103,238  $         

Due within one year 1,365,245  $      219,516  $       118,188  $       156,361  $        103,238  $         
Due in more than one year 54,257               -                   -                   -                    -                    

Governmental Type Component Units

 
 

Note 12. Obligations under Capital Lease 

 
The County entered into several lease agreements in prior years to acquire equipment and vehicles.  The 
terms of these leases are, in effect, a purchase of the related asset contingent on the County’s ability to 
appropriate funds as required by State statutes.  The assets acquired through capital leases are as follows: 
 

Governmental
Asset Activities

Machinery and equipment 1,839,754  $     
Less accumulated depreciation (474,937)           

1,364,817  $     
 

 
 

June 30, 2012
Primary Government Balance

3.34% lease to acquire two graders and a tractor, payable 
in three annual installments of $240,892 232,994  $        

2.13% lease to acquire heavy equipment and vehicles, payable
in three annual installments of $300,497  294,229           

527,223  $        
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Additionally, the County Events Complex entered into several lease agreements in prior years to acquire 
equipment and vehicles.  The terms of these leases are, in effect, a purchase of the related asset contingent 
on the Events Complex’s ability to appropriate funds as required by State statutes: 
 

Events
Asset Complex

Machinery and equipment 302,111  $        
Less accumulated depreciation (135,511)           

166,600  $        
 

 
 

June 30, 2012
Events Complex Balance

4.36% lease to acquire a motor grader and utility tractor,
payable in 60 monthly installments of $3,795 22,484  $         

4.20% lease to acquire a vehicle and scissor lift, payable in 
60 monthly installments of $1,810 12,494            

34,978  $          
 

 
The following schedule summarizes the debt service requirements of these leases to maturity: 
 

Primary Events
Government Complex

Year ended June 30,
2013 541,389  $       35,441  $         

Total minimum lease payments 541,389            35,441              
Less: Amount representing interest (14,166)           (463)                 

Present value of net minimum lease payments  527,223             34,978              
Less: Capital lease payable, due within one year (527,223)         (34,978)            

Capital leases payable, due in more than one year -$                  -$                  
 

 
 

Note 13. Obligations Under Notes Payable and Subsequent Event 

 
The Mental Health Board carries a $1,500,000 note payable related to the purchase of land and a building.  
The agreement is contingent on the Mental Health Board’s ability to appropriate funds as required by 
State statutes.  The agreement initially bore interest at 6% with monthly payments of $16,692 due the first 
of the month from July 1, 2004 until June 1, 2014.  However, beginning July 1, 2009 the interest rate was 
adjusted to equal the published “Wall Street Journal” prime rate plus 2%, being 5.25% as of June 30, 
2012.  In addition, beginning July 1, 2009, monthly payments reduced to $12,513 through June 1, 2014. 
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The following schedule summarizes the debt service requirements of this note to maturity: 
 

Year ended June 30,
2013 139,128  $        
2014  134,097           

273,225  $        
 

 
During February 2003, the Mental Health Board entered into an agreement to lease part of the building 
discussed above to a third party.  The agreement was originally for one year and has been extended to 
January 2013.  Monthly rental income is $10,000.  
 
During the year ended June 30, 2012, the County entered into a loan agreement with the Events Complex 
so the Events Complex could purchase two 40 meter by 70 meter Clear Span Tents.  The interest-free 
loan from the County to the Events Complex of $824,000 is to be repaid in quarterly installments of 
$41,200 over a 60-month period.  The first installment is due in November 2012 with the final installment 
due in August 2017.  As of June 30, 2012, the Events Complex only drew down $312,000 of the 
$824,000 available loan.  Subsequent to June 30, 2012, the Events Complex drew down the remaining 
$512,000 on the loan. 
 
The following schedule summarizes the debt service requirements of this note, including the additional 
$512,000 drawn after year end, to maturity: 
 

Year ended June 30,
2013 123,600  $        
2014 164,800           
2015 164,800           
2016 164,800           
2017 164,800           
2018  41,200             

824,000  $        
 

 
To assist in covering operating cash flow needs, the Events Complex entered into a tax anticipation 
warrant on June 19, 2012.  The Events Complex can draw up to 75% of the anticipated 2012-2013 fiscal 
year property tax revenue remaining uncollected, up to $1,960,000 at any given time.  All funds borrowed 
must be repaid by June 30, 2013. 
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Note 14. Changes in Long-Term Liabilities 

 
Long-term liability activity for the year ended June 30, 2012 was as follows: 
 

Balance Balance Due Within
June 30, 2011 Additions Reductions June 30, 2012 One Year

Primary Government
Capital leases 1,176,553  $      -$                 (649,330)  $      527,223  $        527,223  $         

Discretely Presented Governmental
Type Component Units
Mental Health, note payable 405,252             -                   (132,027)          273,225            139,128             
Events Complex, note payable -                     312,000           -                   312,000            123,600             
Events Complex, capital leases 99,225               -                   (64,247)            34,978              34,978               

 
 

Note 15. Long-Term Debt – Memorial Hospital 

 
Long-term debt for Memorial Hospital consists of:  
 

June 30, June 30,
2011 Additions Reductions 2012

Hospital Revenue Bonds,
Series 2006B 18,725,000  $  -$                 (480,000)  $       18,245,000  $    
Series 2008 7,500,000        -                   (195,000)           7,305,000          

26,225,000  $  -$                 (675,000)  $       25,550,000        
Less:

Current maturities (700,000)           

Total long-term debt, net of current maturities 24,850,000  $    

 
The terms and due dates of the Hospital’s long-term debt at June 30, 2012 are as follows: 
 

Sweetwater County, Wyoming (Memorial Hospital) Hospital Revenue Bonds Series 2006B, variable 
rate bonds, .43% as of June 30, 2012, due in varying annual installments to September 2037, secured 
by Hospital revenues. 
 
Sweetwater County, Wyoming (Memorial Hospital) Hospital Revenue bonds Series 2008, variable 
rate bonds, .36% as of June 30, 2012, due in varying annual installments to September 2037, secured 
by Hospital revenues. 
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The County (Hospital) is required to have letters of credit for the Series 2006B and Series 2008 bonds.  
This requirement was made as bond holders have the ability to redeem the bonds at any time.  In such 
circumstance where the bonds cannot be remarketed or there is a difference in the amount redeemed and 
the amount remarketed, the County will draw on the letter of credit.  The beneficiary is the bond debt 
holder, Wells Fargo.   
 
The letters of credit held with Key Bank are in the amount of $41,246,761 for the Series 2006B Bonds, 
and $7,832,809 for the Series 2008 Bonds.  Both letters of credit expire September 28, 2013 and have a 
10% interest rate. 
 
Scheduled principal and interest payments on long-term debt are as follows: 
 

Year ended June 30, Principal Interest Total

2013 700,000  $       511,000  $       1,211,000  $     
2014 720,000          497,000          1,217,000         
2015 740,000          482,600          1,222,600         
2016 760,000          467,800          1,227,800         
2017 785,000          452,600          1,237,600         
2018-2022 4,300,000       2,017,700       6,317,700         
2023-2027 4,995,000       1,560,800       6,555,800         
2028-2032 5,805,000       1,029,900       6,834,900         
2033-2037 6,745,000       415,083          7,160,083         

25,550,000  $   7,434,483  $     32,984,483  $   
 

 
 

Note 16. Operating Lease Commitments 

 
The County has entered into several lease agreements for copiers and postage machines.  The leases vary 
in ranges extending up to five years.  The total minimum rental commitment at June 30, 2012 under these 
leases is as follows: 
 

2013 52,119  $          
2014 14,701             
2015  3,308               

70,128  $          
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Note 17. Contingencies and Commitments 

 
The County and several of its component units participate in a number of Federally assisted grant 
programs which are monitored by various granting agencies.  Expenditures may be disallowed by the 
granting agencies if the County is not in compliance with applicable laws, regulations, or specific grant 
requirements.  The amount, if any, of expenditures which may be disallowed by the granting agencies 
cannot be determined at this time, although the County expects the amounts, if any, to be immaterial. 
 
Litigation:  The County has multiple claims and pending legal proceedings that generally involve the 
operations of the County.  These proceedings are, in the opinion of management, ordinary routine matters 
incidental to the normal business conducted by the County.  In the opinion of management and the 
County legal counsel, such proceedings are substantially covered by insurance, and the ultimate 
disposition of such proceedings are not expected to have a material adverse effect on the County’s 
financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 
 
Risk of loss:  The County and its component units are subject to risk of loss from various events, 
including torts, theft, damage to assets, business interruption, errors and omissions, and job-related 
injuries to employees, as well as acts of God. 
 
The County and its component units have purchased commercial insurance and workers’ compensation 
coverage to minimize their risks of loss.  The County has not had significant settlements exceeding 
insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.  The County has had no significant reductions in 
insurance coverage from coverage in the prior year. 
 
Employees of the County are covered by the County’s medical self-insurance plan.  The County’s costs 
for this plan are reflected in the funds paying the coverage, premiums and administrative costs.  The self-
insurance fund is reported as an internal service fund in the accompanying financial statements.  The 
County has a contract with a third-party administrator to process payments.  The County also maintains a 
stop-loss policy to limit the potential for individual and aggregate claims.  Management has estimated an 
accrual for incurred but not reported (IBNR) claims.   
 
At June 30, 2012, the IBNR was $465,000.  Changes in the IBNR from fiscal years 2012 and 2011 were 
as follows: 
 

Beginning of Estimated At Fiscal
Fiscal Year Claims Claim Year-End

Liability Incurred Payments Liability

Fiscal Year 2010-2011 465,000  $         4,505,364  $    (4,505,364)  $   465,000  $        

Fiscal Year 2011-2012 465,000  $         4,064,033  $    (4,064,033)  $   465,000  $        
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Note 18. Insurance and Litigation – Memorial Hospital 

 
Malpractice insurance:  The Hospital has malpractice insurance coverage to provide protection for 
professional liability losses on a claims-made basis subject to a limit of $1 million per claim and an 
annual aggregate limit of $5 million.  Should the claims-made policy not be renewed or replaced with 
equivalent insurance, claims based on occurrences during its term, but reported subsequently, would be 
uninsured. 
 
Self-funded health insurance:  The Hospital self-funds health benefits for eligible employees and their 
dependents.  Health insurance expense is recorded on an accrual basis.  An accrued liability is recorded in 
the financial statements which estimates the claims incurred but not yet reported and claims reported but 
not yet paid.  The Hospital has stop loss insurance to cover catastrophic claims.  The Hospital expensed 
amounts representing the employer’s portion of actual claims paid, adjusted for the actuarially determined 
estimates of liabilities relating to claims resulting from services provided prior to the respective fiscal 
period end.  The Hospital recognized approximately $2,976,000 and $2,624,000 of expense during the 
years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  The estimated liability relating to self-funded health 
insurance was $400,000 as of June 30, 2012 and 2011. 
 
Litigations, claims and disputes:  The Hospital is subject to the usual contingencies in the normal course 
of operations relating to the performance of its tasks under its various programs.  In the opinion of 
management, the ultimate settlement of litigation, claims, and disputes in process will not be material to 
the financial position of the Hospital. 
 
The health care industry is subject to numerous laws and regulations of Federal, state, and local 
governments.  Compliance with these laws and regulations, specifically those relating to the Medicare and 
Medicaid programs, can be subject to government review and interpretation, as well as regulatory actions 
unknown and unasserted at this time.  Federal government activity has increased with respect to 
investigations and allegations concerning possible violations by health care providers of regulations, 
which could result in the imposition of significant fines and penalties, as well as significant repayments of 
previously billed and collected revenues from patient services.  Management believes that the Hospital is 
in substantial compliance with current laws and regulations. 
 
 

Note 19. Conduit Debt Obligations 

 
From time to time, the County has issued Industrial Revenue Bonds to provide financial assistance to 
private-sector entities for the acquisition and construction of industrial and commercial facilities deemed 
to be in the public interest.  The bonds are secured by the property financed and are payable solely from 
payments received on the underlying mortgage loans.  Upon repayment of bonds, ownership of the 
acquired facilities transfers to the private-sector entity served by the bond issuance.  Neither the County, 
the state, nor any political subdivision thereof is obligated in any manner for repayment of the bonds.  
Accordingly, the bonds are not reported as liabilities in the accompanying financial statements. 
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Note 20. Commitments 

 
As of June 30, 2012, the County has entered into several construction/engineering contracts resulting in 
commitments for future capital expenditures.  The major projects are listed below.  Although portions of 
the projects may have been completed and capitalized during 2012, the amounts below represent the 
activity pertaining to the County’s portion of the contract as a whole. 
 

Expended to Total
Date at Total Commitment at

June 30, 2012 Contract June 30, 2012
Primary Government:

2012 Paint Striping -$                     217,498  $           217,498  $           
2012 Paint Striping 14,447                 52,304                 37,857                 
2012 Chip Seal Project -                       599,335               599,335               
Yellowstone Road Lighting 1,248                   91,700                 90,452                 
Peru Bridge 234                      226,400               226,166               
RS-GR Alternate Road 3,680                   36,670                 32,990                 
CDC Remodel (design) 37,030                 228,450               191,420               
CMAQ 2011 -                       407,782               407,782               
Circuit Court Construction 2,271,169            2,595,000            323,831               

Total primary government 2,327,808  $        4,455,139  $        2,127,331  $        
 

 
 

Note 21. Postemployment Benefits Other than Pensions (OPEB) 

 
Plan description:  The County participates in one single-employer defined benefit postemployment 
healthcare plan.  Under this plan, the County allows retiring employees who meet certain age and/or 
service requirements as defined below to remain on the County’s health insurance plan, as long as the 
retiring employee pays their full premium each month, less the sum of subsidies A, B and C where such 
amounts are defined as follows:  
 

i. Subsidy A per month – a monthly factor, as shown in the following table, multiplied by the total 
number of years of service at retirement: 

Current Age Monthly Factor 
      <65        $11.50 
        65+       $  5.75 
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In the event that the retiree predeceases his or her spouse, Subsidy A will be applied to reduce the 
healthcare costs for the remaining lifetime of the survivor. 
 
Subsidy A credits are not granted to participants who retire after March 15, 2011. 
 

ii. Subsidy B per month – only applies to retirees who retired prior to July 1, 2009, and provides a 
fixed monthly factor ranging from $42.02 to $157.16, depending upon the retiree’s age (under 
age 65 or 65 and above) and tier of benefits (i.e. employee only, employee and spouse, family, 
etc.).  Subsidy B is not expected to increase in the future, but will be adjusted for changes in the 
number and types of dependents covered, if and when they occur.  
 

iii. Subsidy C per month – only applies to participants who elected to retire between November 22, 
2010 and March 15, 2011 and signed the Early Retirement Agreement, and provides the Subsidy 
A monthly factor as defined in i. above.  The limit on Subsidy C payments shall be $30,000 less 
the amount of the cash incentive paid to the retiree at the time of retirement, if any. 
 

The retired employee must meet the following age and/or service requirements in order to qualify for the 
plan:  
 

i. All participants excluding law enforcement – the earlier of the following:  

a. age 60 and 8 years of service with the County, or  

b. having 8 years of service with the County and being eligible to retire with full 
benefits under the Wyoming Retirement System by meeting one of the following 
criteria:  

i. age 60 and 4 years of service with the Wyoming Retirement System, or 

ii. the sum age and service with the Wyoming Retirement System equals 
85.  
 

ii. Law enforcement - having 8 years of service with the County and being eligible to retire 
with full benefits under the Wyoming Retirement System by meeting one of the 
following criteria:  

a. age 60 and 4 years of service with Wyoming Retirement System, or  

b. 20 years of law enforcement service with Wyoming Retirement System.  
 

The Board of County Commissioners (the “Board”) has the authority for establishing and amending this 
plan.  This plan does not issue a separate report. 
 
Funding policy:  The County finances this program on a pay-as-you-go basis. The Board has the authority 
for establishing and amending the funding policy. 
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Annual OPEB cost and net OPEB obligation:  The County’s annual other postemployment benefit 
(OPEB) cost (expense) is calculated based on the annual required contribution of the employer (ARC), an 
amount actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement No. 45.  The ARC 
represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal cost each year 
and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities (or funding excess) over a period not to exceed 30 years.  
The following table shows the components of the County’s annual OPEB cost for the year, the amount 
actually contributed to the plan, and changes in the County’s net OPEB obligation: 
 

Annual required contribution 427,746  $               
Interest on net OPEB obligation 41,675                    
Adjustment to annual required contribution (54,408)                    

Annual OPEB cost 415,013                   
Employer contributions (122,420)                  

Increase in net OPEB obligation 292,593                   
Net OPEB obligation, beginning of year 926,119                   

Net OPEB obligation, end of year 1,218,712  $            
 

The County’s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan, and the net 
OPEB obligation for fiscal years 2012, 2011 and 2010 were as follows: 
 

2012 2011 2010

Annual OPEB cost 415,013  $               430,241  $               538,426  $               
Percentage of OPEB cost 

29.50% 0.00% 7.90%
Net OPEB obligation 1,218,712  $           926,119  $              495,878  $               

 

Funded status and funding progress:  The funded status of the plan as of July 1, 2010, being the actuarial 
valuation date, was as follows: 
 

Actuarial accrued liability (a) 4,613,168  $            
Actuarial value of plan assets (b) -                          
Unfunded actuarial accrued liability

(funding excess) (a) - (b) 4,613,168  $            

Funded ratio (b) / (a) 0.00%
Covered payroll (c) 22,198,079  $          
Unfunded actuarial accrued liability

(funded excess) as a percentage of
covered payroll ([(a) - (b)] / (c) 20.78%
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The required schedule of funding progress immediately following the notes to the financial statements 
presents multi-year trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or 
decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liability for benefits. 
 
Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the 
probability of events in the future.  Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the plan and the 
annual required contributions of the employer are subject to continual revision as actual results are 
compared to past expectations and new estimates are made about the future.   
 
Actuarial methods and assumptions:  Projections of benefits are based on the substantive plan (the plan as 
understood by the employer and the plan members) and include the types of benefits in force at the 
valuation date.  Actuarial calculations reflect long-term perspective and employ methods and assumptions 
that are designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of 
assets.  Significant methods and assumptions were as follows: 
 

Actuarial valuation date:   July 1, 2010 

Actuarial cost method:    Attained Age 

Amortization method:    Level Dollar Basis 

Amortization period:    29 years 

Asset valuation method:   Fair value of assets 

Actuarial assumptions: 
Discount rate:    4.5% 
Healthcare cost trend rate (HCCTR): Initial rate of 8.5%;  

Ultimate rate of 4.5%;  
Grading period of four years 

Assumed rates of increase  
    applied to retiree premiums:   Same as HCCTR 
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Note 22. Interfund Receivables, Payables and Transfers 

 
Due from Due to

Other Funds Other Funds

General fund 77,303  $         -$                 
Jail tax fund -                   77,303            

77,303  $          77,303  $          
 

 
These balances resulted from the time lag between the dates that: 1) interfund goods and services are 
provided or reimbursable expenditures occur, 2) transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and 
3) payments between funds are made. 
 
Interfund transfers for the year ended June 30, 2012 are as follows: 
 

Transfers In Transfers Out

General fund 500,000  $       -$                 
Jail tax fund -                    500,000           

500,000  $        500,000  $        
 

 
Transfers were used to: 1) move revenues from the fund that statute or budget requires to collect them to 
the fund that statute or budget requires to expend them, and 2) use unrestricted revenues collected in the 
general fund to finance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with budgetary 
authorizations. 
 
 

Note 23. Prior Period Adjustment 

 
As of June 30, 2011, the General Fund recorded a receivable of $430,567 within “Due from other 
governments,” which represented the total amount of Environmental Health expenses the General Fund 
paid on behalf of the Health Board during the year ended June 30, 2011.  In addition, as of June 30, 2011, 
the Health Board recorded the same amount within “Due to other governments.” These balances were 
recorded as the County believed the Health Board would reimburse the General Fund for the 
Environmental Health expenses paid on their behalf. 
 
However, during the year ended June 30, 2012, it became understood that the original intent of this 
arrangement included the fact that the Health Board would not be required to reimburse the General Fund, 
as the County had already reduced its fiscal year 2011 direct funding of the Health Board in order to 
compensate the General Fund for paying the Environmental Health expenses.  As such, a prior period 
adjustment of $430,567 has been recorded to increase the Health Board’s beginning net assets and 
decrease the General Fund’s beginning fund balance as the liability and receivable on the Health Board 
and General Fund’s books, respectively, should not have been recorded as of June 30, 2011. 
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Note 24. Recent Pronouncements 

 
In June 2012, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board issued GASB Statement No. 68, 
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions, which replaces GASB Statement No. 27, Accounting 
for Pensions by State and Local Government Employers, for most government pensions.  Statement No. 
68 requires governments providing defined benefit pensions to recognize their long-term obligation for 
pension benefits as a liability for the first time, and to more comprehensively and comparably measure the 
annual costs of pension benefits.  The Statement also enhances accountability and transparency through 
revised and new note disclosures and required supplementary information (RSI). 
 
GASB Statement No. 68 is effective for years beginning after June 15, 2014 with the effects of changes 
made to comply with this statement reported as adjustments to prior periods.  The effect that the adoption 
of GASB Statement No. 68 will have on the County’s financial statements has not been determined. 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 
 
The County’s required supplementary information includes the budgetary comparison schedule as described in the 
accompanying Note to Required Supplementary Information following the schedule and the schedule of funding 
progress. 
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE -
BUDGET AND ACTUAL

GENERAL FUND
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Variance with
Final Budget

Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

Revenues
Taxes 31,987,481  $    31,987,481  $    34,151,659  $    2,164,178  $      
Licenses and permits 1,365,488          1,365,488          1,476,854          111,366             
Intergovernmental 8,532,227          10,711,918        8,843,367          (1,868,551)         
Charges for services 780,447             782,788             1,570,666          787,878             
Interest 439,115             439,115             524,516             85,401               
Miscellaneous 738,756             796,922             93,078               (703,844)            

Total revenues 43,843,514        46,083,712        46,660,140        576,428             

Expenditures
General government 17,384,419        15,467,499        14,257,317        1,210,182          
Public safety 14,009,496        15,485,071        13,956,954        1,528,117          
Road and bridge 3,741,617          3,783,110          3,618,945          164,165             
Health, recreation and welfare 2,076,608          5,585,057          4,509,843          1,075,214          
Conservation of natural resources 250,000             275,000             275,556             (556)                   
Capital outlay 6,820,986          8,614,952          5,504,649          3,110,303          

Total expenditures 44,283,126        49,210,689        42,123,264        7,087,425          

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over expenditures (439,612)           (3,126,977)        4,536,876          7,663,853          

Transfers from other funds -                    500,000             500,000             -                     
Proceeds from sale of capital assets -                    -                    1,826                 1,826                 

Net change in fund balance (439,612)  $      (2,626,977)  $   5,038,702  $     7,665,679  $     

Budgeted Amounts
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Budgets 
 
The statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balance – budget and actual – general fund 
presents a comparison of the legally adopted budget with actual data.  The County prepares its budget on 
a cash basis, and the revenues and expenditures presented in the aforementioned statement are on the 
modified accrual basis.  Any differences in revenues and expenditures as a result of the difference in 
accounting basis are considered immaterial.  Appropriations lapse at fiscal year end.  All budget 
amendments are approved by the County Commissioners and are presented within the final budget 
figures. 
 
The County follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial 
statements. 
 
Wyoming State Statutes require the preparation of an annual budget which provides documentation that 
all sources and uses of County resources are properly planned, budgeted, and approved.  The budget, 
upon adoption, is the legal document which places restrictions and limitations on the purposes and 
amounts for which County monies may be expended. 
 
The budget is adopted according to the following schedule: 
 

1. On or before May 15, the Budget Officer shall prepare a tentative budget for each fund and file the 
budget with the governing body. 

 
2. A summary of the tentative budget shall be entered into the minutes and the governing body shall 

publish the summary at least one week before the public hearing to adopt the budget. 
 

3. The public hearing is held on the third Monday in July. 
 

4. On the day of or the day following the public hearing, the County Commissioners, by resolution, 
make the necessary appropriations and adopt the budget, which subject to future amendment, shall 
be in effect for the next fiscal year. 
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS

Actuarial UAAL as a
Accrued Unfunded Percentage

Actuarial Actuarial Liability AAL Funded Covered of Covered
Valuation Value of (AAL) (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll

Date Assets (a) (b) (b - a) (a/b) (c) ((b-a)/c)

7/1/2010 -$               4,613,168  $    4,613,168  $   0% 22,198,079  $  20.78%

7/1/2009 -$               5,228,186  $    5,228,186  $   0% 24,177,827  $  21.63%

June 30, 2012

Post Retirement Healthcare Plan

During fiscal year 2011, the County’s postemployment healthcare plan was amended so that Subsidy A credits 
are not granted to participants who retire after March 15, 2011.  In addition, the plan was amended to create 
Subsidy C credits. 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

OTHER GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
 
 
The County’s nonmajor governmental funds are described below: 
 

Jail Tax Fund – used to account for resources legally restricted to expenditures for building and 
maintaining a new county jail. 

 
SC Road Fund – used to account for resources legally restricted to expenditures for state and county 
road construction. 
 
Enhanced 911 Fund – used to account for resources legally restricted to expenditures to administer 
the County’s 911 service. 

 
CDC Tax Fund – used to account for resources legally restricted to expenditures for purchasing, 
renovating and maintaining a child developmental center (CDC). 

 
The County’s nonmajor discretely presented governmental type component units are: 
 
 Museum Board  
 

 Recreation Board  
 

 Health Board  
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
June 30, 2012

Total
Nonmajor

Jail Tax SC Road Enhanced 911 CDC Tax Governmental
ASSETS Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds

Cash and investments 827,160  $   1,875,784  $   124,199  $   4,202,675  $   7,029,818  $   
Due from other governments -              64,913          83,279       1,405              149,597        

Total assets 827,160  $   1,940,697  $  207,478  $  4,204,080  $   7,179,415  $  

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

Liabilities
Warrants and vouchers payable 5,034  $      234  $            207,478  $  32,793  $        245,539  $     
Due to other funds 77,303         -                -             -                  77,303          

Total liabilities 82,337         234                 207,478       32,793            322,842          

Fund Balances
Restricted for:

Jail maintenance and operations 744,823       -                -             -                  744,823        
State and county roads -              1,940,463     -             -                  1,940,463     
CDC building -              -                -             4,171,287       4,171,287     

744,823       1,940,463       -               4,171,287       6,856,573       

Total liabilities and 
fund balances 827,160  $   1,940,697  $  207,478  $  4,204,080  $   7,179,415  $  
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND 
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Total
Enhanced Nonmajor

Jail Tax SC Road 911 CDC Tax Governmental
Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds

Revenues
  Taxes -$             -$               -$              5,986,284  $   5,986,284  $   

Intergovernmental revenues -               693,401        -               -                 693,401         
Charges for services -               -                429,284        -                 429,284         
Interest -               4,589            3,183            1,383              9,155             

Total revenues -                697,990          432,467          5,987,667       7,118,124        

Expenditures
Current:

Public safety 353,820       -                1,495,330     -                 1,849,150      
Road and bridge -               846               -               -                 846                

  Capital outlay -               -                -               1,816,380       1,816,380      
353,820       846               1,495,330     1,816,380       3,666,376      

Excess (deficiency) of 
revenues over

 expenditures (353,820)       697,144        (1,062,863)   4,171,287       3,451,748      

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers to other funds (500,000)       -                -               -                 (500,000)       

Net change in fund 
balances (853,820)       697,144        (1,062,863)   4,171,287       2,951,748      

Fund Balance, beginning 1,598,643     1,243,319     1,062,863     -                 3,904,825      

Fund Balance, ending 744,823  $   1,940,463  $  -$              4,171,287  $   6,856,573  $   
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS 
NONMAJOR DISCRETELY PRESENTED GOVERNMENTAL TYPE COMPONENT UNITS
June 30, 2012

Total
Nonmajor

Museum Recreation Health Component
ASSETS Board Board Board Units

Cash and investments 335,994  $      489,553  $        222,566  $      1,048,113  $     
Receivables:

Taxes and interest on taxes 250,407        475,028          2,694             728,129           
Accounts and insurance credits, net -                -                 86,244           86,244             
Grant receivable -                -                 26,647           26,647             

Prepaid items -                -                 37,729           37,729             
Capital assets being depreciated:

Buildings and improvements 721,502        8,659,476       -                 9,380,978        
Equipment and furnishings 50,321          394,360          14,612           459,293           
Accumulated depreciation (460,813)       (7,392,575)     (3,531)            (7,856,919)       

Total assets 897,411  $     2,625,842  $    386,961  $     3,910,214  $    

LIABILITIES

Liabilities
Warrants and vouchers payable -$               16,472  $         7,722  $          24,194  $         
Accrued expenses -                6,726              24,675           31,401             
Deferred revenue 247,658        470,492          -                 718,150           
Compensated absences:

Due within one year 9,177            33,397            60,664           103,238           

Total liabilities 256,835          527,087            93,061            876,983            

NET ASSETS 
Investment in capital assets, net of

related debt 311,010        1,661,261       11,081           1,983,352        
Restricted 9,500            -                 -                 9,500               
Unrestricted 320,066        437,494          282,819        1,040,379        

Total net assets 640,576  $      2,098,755  $     293,900  $      3,033,231  $     
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

COMBINING STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
NONMAJOR DISCRETELY PRESENTED GOVERNMENTAL TYPE COMPONENT UNITS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Operating Capital Total Nonmajor
Charges for Grants and Grants and Museum Recreation Health Component

Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Board Board Board Units

Museum Board
Health, recreation and welfare 395,268  $       4,548  $           -$                -$               (390,720)  $     -$                -$                (390,720)  $      

Recreation Board
Health, recreation and welfare 701,589           -                   -                  -                 -                  (701,589)         -                  (701,589)          

Health Board
Health, recreation and welfare 2,056,290        506,639           1,622,020       -                 -                  -                  72,369            72,369             

Total nonmajor component units 3,153,147  $    511,187  $      1,622,020  $  -$               (390,720)       (701,589)       72,369          (1,019,940)     

General Revenues
Taxes:

Property taxes 324,358          498,208          2,761              825,327           
Sales and other taxes 4,520              36,241            3,408              44,169             

Interest income 54                   874                 791                 1,719               
Total general revenues 328,932          535,323          6,960              871,215           

Change in net assets (61,788)           (166,266)         79,329            (148,725)          

Net Assets (Deficit), beginning, as previously reported 702,364          2,265,021       (215,996)         2,751,389        
Prior period adjustment -                  -                  430,567          430,567           

Net Assets, beginning, as restated 702,364          2,265,021       214,571          3,181,956        

Net Assets, ending 640,576  $     2,098,755  $  293,900  $     3,033,231  $   

Program Revenues Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Assets
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET - DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS
FUND BASIS
June 30, 2012

Mental Events Library Museum Recreation Health
ASSETS Health Complex System Board Board Board Total

Cash and investments 2,894,127  $  912,723  $     1,650,149  $  335,994  $  489,553  $     222,566  $     6,505,112  $    
Due from Library Foundation -                -                306,955         -             -                -                306,955           
Receivables:

Taxes and interest on taxes 670,095         1,861,052      3,084,130      250,407      475,028         2,694             6,343,406        
Accounts and insurance credits 736,990         68,247           3,633             -             -                86,244           895,114           
Grants 111,503         702,573         -                -             -                26,647           840,723           

Inventories -                44,295           27,965           -             -                -                72,260             
Prepaid items 53,468           39,162           -                -             -                37,729           130,359           

Total assets 4,466,183  $  3,628,052  $  5,072,832  $  586,401  $  964,581  $     375,880  $     15,093,929  $  

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities

Warrants and vouchers payable 124,460  $     842,828  $     104,859  $     -$           16,472  $       7,722  $         1,096,341  $    
Accrued expenses -                48,973           39,654           -             6,726             24,675           120,028           
Deferred revenue 668,403         2,569,042      3,077,767      249,722      473,974         2,441             7,041,349        

Total liabilities 792,863         3,460,843      3,222,280      249,722      497,172         34,838           8,257,718        

Fund Balances
Nonspendable:

Inventories -                44,295           27,965           -             -                -                72,260             
Prepaid items 53,468           39,162           -                -             -                37,729           130,359           

Restricted for:
Endowment challenge program -                -                306,955         -             -                -                306,955           
Tipple building -                -                -                9,500          -                -                9,500               

Committed to:
Water plant -                -                -                -             46,644           -                46,644             

Unassigned 3,619,852      83,752           1,515,632      327,179      420,765         303,313         6,270,493        

Total fund balances 3,673,320      167,209         1,850,552      336,679      467,409         341,042         6,836,211        

Total liabilities and fund balances 4,466,183  $ 3,628,052  $ 5,072,832  $ 586,401  $  964,581  $    375,880  $    15,093,929  $ 

Nonmajor Component Units
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL TYPE COMPONENT UNITS BALANCE SHEET
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

June 30, 2012

Mental Events Library Museum Recreation Health
Health Complex System Board Board Board

Total fund balances - governmental type
component units 3,673,320  $  167,209  $     1,850,552  $  336,679  $  467,409  $     341,042  $     

Amounts reported for the govern-
mental type component unit in the
statement of net assets is different
because:

Capital assets used in governmental
activities are not financial resources
and, therefore, are not reported in
the funds. 3,648,392      8,920,305      706,698         311,010      1,661,261      11,081           

Long-term liabilities, including notes
payable, capital leases payable and
compensated absences are not due
and payable in the current period
and, therefore, are not reported in
the funds. (492,741)       (465,166)       (156,361)       (9,177)        (33,397)         (60,664)         

Some of the component unit's revenues
will be collected after year-end but are
not available soon enough to pay for
the current period's expenditures and,
therefore, are deferred in the funds. 5,034             12,384           18,567           2,064          3,482             2,441             

Net assets of governmental type 
component units 6,834,005  $ 8,634,732  $ 2,419,456  $ 640,576  $  2,098,755  $ 293,900  $    

Nonmajor Component Units
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -
DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS

FUND BASIS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Mental Events Library Museum Recreation Health
Health Complex System Board Board Board Total

Revenues
Taxes 881,767  $      2,095,997  $   3,315,289  $   329,300  $      535,180  $      7,701  $          7,165,234  $   
Intergovernmental 7,206,100       2,809,294       306,955          -                  -                  1,622,020       11,944,369     
Charges for services 2,328,617       1,029,767       -                  4,548              -                  506,639          3,869,571       
Interest income 3,664              880                 14,088            54                   874                 791                 20,351            
Other income 13,644            276,744          113,474          -                  -                  -                  403,862          

Total revenues 10,433,792     6,212,682       3,749,806       333,902          536,054          2,137,151       23,403,387     

Expenditures
Current:

Health, recreation and welfare 9,211,192       4,260,985       3,599,966       359,930          549,947          2,035,672       20,017,692     
Capital outlay 15,050            3,196,390       98,207            22,112            311,948          -                  3,643,707       

Total expenditures 9,226,242       7,457,375       3,698,173       382,042          861,895          2,035,672       23,661,399     

Excess (deficiency) of revenue
  over expenditures 1,207,550       (1,244,693)      51,633            (48,140)           (325,841)         101,479          (258,012)         

Other Financing Sources
Proceeds from issuance of debt -                  312,000          -                  -                  -                  -                  312,000          

Net change in fund balances 1,207,550       (932,693)         51,633            (48,140)           (325,841)         101,479          53,988            

Fund Balances
Beginning, as previously reported 2,465,770       1,099,902       1,798,919       384,819          793,250          (191,004)         6,351,656       

Prior period adjustment -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  430,567          430,567          
Beginning, as restated 2,465,770       1,099,902       1,798,919       384,819          793,250          239,563          6,782,223       

Ending 3,673,320  $   167,209  $      1,850,552  $   336,679  $      467,409  $      341,042  $      6,836,211  $   

Nonmajor Component Units
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

RECONCILIATION OF THE  STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 
OF GOVERNMENTAL TYPE COMPONENT UNITS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Mental Events Library Museum Recreation Health
Health Complex System Board Board Board

Net Change in Fund Balances - Governmental
Type Component Units 1,207,550  $      (932,693)  $        51,633  $           (48,140)  $          (325,841)  $        101,479  $         

Amounts reported for the governmental type component
units in the statement of activities are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.
However, in the statement of activities, the cost of
those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives
and reported as depreciation expense. This is the amount 
by which capital purchases exceeded depreciation during
the current period. (254,110)            2,732,920          58,762               (13,226)              176,473             (1,461)                

The statement of activities reports a decrease in revenues
due to current activity in deferred revenues which is not
reported at the fund level. (834)                   (3,029)                (3,465)                (422)                   (731)                   (1,532)                

The liability for compensated absences is not recorded in the
fund level, but is reported in the statement of net assets. 
This is the current year change in the liability. 20,582               (29,877)              2,681                 -                     (16,167)              (19,157)              

Repayment of capital lease principal is an expenditure in the
governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-term
liabilities in the statement of net assets. This is off-set by
the total of capital leases issued during the year, if any. -                     64,247               -                     -                     -                     -                     

The long-term liability for notes payable is not recorded in
the fund level, but is reported in the statement of net assets. 
This is the current year change in the liability. 132,027             (312,000)            -                     -                     -                     -                     

Change in net assets of governmental
type component unit 1,105,215  $     1,519,568  $     109,611  $        (61,788)  $         (166,266)  $       79,329  $          

Nonmajor Component Units
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Federal CFDA
Number Expenditures

U.S. Department of the Interior
Payments in lieu of taxes:

Administered by Sweetwater County 15.226 2,924,621  $       

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
Passed through Wyoming Department of Health

Temporary Assistance for Needy Families:
Administered by Sweetwater County Board of Health 93.558 149,635              

Block Grants for Prevention and Treatment of Substance Abuse:
Administered by Southwest Counseling Service 93.959 316,879              

Public Health Emergency Preparedness:
Administered by Sweetwater County Board of Health 93.069 108,157              

Block Grants for Community Mental Health Services:
Administered by Southwest Counseling Service 93.958 40,000                

Passed through Sweetwater County Tripartite Board
Community Services Block Grant:

Administered by Sweetwater County 93.569 154,250              
Passed through Wyoming Department of Family Services

Child Support Enforcement:
Administered by Sweetwater County 93.563 23,236                

Temporary Assistance for Needy Families:
Administered by Sweetwater County 93.558 48,788                

Community-Based Child Abuse Prevention Grants
Administered by Sweetwater County Board of Health 93.590 9,331                  

Total U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 850,276              

U.S. Department of Agriculture
Passed through Wyoming Department of Health

Schools and Roads - Grants to Counties:
Administered by Sweetwater County 10.666 46,999                

Passed through Wyoming State Forestry Division
Cooperative Forestry Assistance:

Administered by Sweetwater County 10.664 2,036                  
Total U.S. Department of Agriculture 49,035                

U.S. Department of Commerce
Passed through Wyoming Office of Homeland Security

Public Safety Interoperable Communications Grant Program:
Administered by Sweetwater County 11.555 234,768              

Continued
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SWEETWATER COUNTY, WYOMING

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS (Continued)
For the Year Ended June 30, 2012

Federal CFDA
Number Expenditures

U.S. Department of Transportation
Passed through Wyoming Department of Transportation

Alcohol Open Container Requirements:
Administered by Sweetwater County 20.607 8,459  $              

Highway Planning and Construction:
Administered by Sweetwater County 20.205 242,845              

Highway Safety Cluster:
State and Community Highway Safety:

Administered by Sweetwater County 20.600 5,875                  
Alcohol Impaired Driving Countermeasures Incentives Grants:

Administered by Sweetwater County 20.601 6,137                  
Total Highway Safety Cluster 12,012                

Passed through Wyoming-Office of Homeland Security:
Interagency Hazardous Materials Public Sector Training

and Planning Grants:
Administered by Sweetwater County 20.703 2,031                  

Total U.S. Department of Transportation 265,347              

U.S. Department of Justice
Passed through Wyoming Department of Family Services

Juvenile Accountability Block Grants:
Administered by Sweetwater County 16.523 21,129                

Passed through Volunteers of America
Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention - Allocation to States:

Administered by Sweetwater County 16.540 14,914                
Passed through Wyoming Division of Criminal Investigation

Recovery Act - Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant (JAG)
Administered by Sweetwater County ARRA-16.803 83,370                

Total U.S. Department of Justice 119,413              

Executive Office of the President
Passed through Wyoming Division of Criminal Investigation

High Intensity Drug Trafficking Area (HIDTA) Program:
Administered by Sweetwater County 95.001 84,358                

U.S. Department of Homeland Security
Passed through Wyoming-Office of Homeland Security

Homeland Security Grant Program:
Administered by Sweetwater County 97.067 73,213                

U.S. Department of Energy
Passed through Wyoming Business Council, State Energy Office

State Energy Program - Recovery Act:
Administered by Sweetwater County ARRA-81.041 669,200              

Total expenditures of Federal awards 5,270,231  $      
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Significant Accounting Policies 
 
The following information regarding the schedule of expenditures of Federal awards is provided to assist 
the reader in understanding the accounting policies regarding, and the nature of, the Federal awards. 
 
Basis of accounting:  The schedule of expenditures of Federal awards is prepared on the cash basis of 
accounting, which is generally utilized by the County for Federal reporting purposes, whereby 
expenditures are reported when paid. 
 
The information in this schedule is presented in accordance with OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, 
Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations.  Therefore, some of the amounts presented in this 
schedule may differ from their presentation in the financial statements. 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

COMPLIANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL 

OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND 
OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 
 
Board of County Commissioners 
Sweetwater County, Wyoming 
Green River, Wyoming 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the aggregate discretely 
presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of 
Sweetwater County, Wyoming (the “County”) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2012, which 
collectively comprise the County’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated 
January 29, 2013.  Our report includes a reference to other auditors.  We conducted our audit in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards 
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States.  Other auditors audited the financials statements of Memorial Hospital of 
Sweetwater County (the “Hospital”), as described in our report on the County’s financial statements.  
This report does not include the results of the other auditor’s testing of internal control over financial 
reporting or compliance and other matters that are reported on separately by those auditors. 
 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
Management of the County is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over 
financial reporting.  In planning and performing our audit, we considered the County’s internal control 
over financial reporting as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our 
opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the County’s internal control over financial reporting.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the County’s internal control over financial reporting. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in the 
preceding paragraph and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over financial 
reporting that might be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses and, therefore, there can be no 
assurance that all deficiencies, significant deficiencies, or material weaknesses have been identified.  
However, as described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs, we identified 
certain deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be material 
weaknesses. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  We 
consider the deficiencies described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as 
items 2012-01 through 2012-03 to be material weaknesses. 
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Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the County’s financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The 
results of our tests disclosed an instance of noncompliance that is required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards and which is described in the accompanying schedule of findings and 
questioned costs as item 2012-04. 
 
The County’s responses to the findings identified in our audit are described in the accompanying schedule 
of findings and questioned costs.  We did not audit the County’s responses and, accordingly, we express 
no opinion on them. 
 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of County Commissioners, 
management, others within the entity, Federal awarding agencies and pass-through entities and is not 
intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than those specified parties. 

 
Cheyenne, Wyoming 
January 29, 2013 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH 

REQUIREMENTS THAT COULD HAVE A DIRECT AND 
MATERIAL EFFECT ON EACH MAJOR PROGRAM AND 

ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH OMB CIRCULAR A-133 

 
 
Board of County Commissioners 
Sweetwater County, Wyoming 
Green River, Wyoming 
 
Compliance 
 
We have audited the compliance of Sweetwater County, Wyoming (the “County”) with the types of 
compliance requirements described in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133 
Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major Federal programs 
for the year ended June 30, 2012.  The County’s major Federal programs are identified in the summary of 
auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.  Compliance 
with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts and grants applicable to each of its major Federal 
programs is the responsibility of the County’s management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on the County’s compliance based on our audit. 
 
We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Audit 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and OMB Circular A-133, Audits of 
States, Local Governments and Non-Profit Organizations.  Those standards and OMB Circular A-133 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance 
with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect 
on a major Federal program occurred.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the 
County’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances.  We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.  
Our audit does not provide a legal determination on the County’s compliance with those requirements. 
 
In our opinion, Sweetwater County, Wyoming complied, in all material respects, with the compliance 
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major Federal 
programs for the year ended June 30, 2012.     
 
Internal Control over Compliance 
 
Management of the County is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over 
compliance with requirements of laws, regulations, contracts and grants applicable to Federal programs.  
In planning and performing our audit, we considered the County’s internal control over compliance with 
requirements that could have a direct and material effect on a major Federal program in order to 
determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on compliance and to test 
and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with OMB Circular A-133, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance.  Accordingly, 
we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the County’s internal control over compliance. 
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A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
Federal program on a timely basis.  A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a 
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is 
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a Federal 
program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.   
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that might be deficiencies, significant deficiencies or material weaknesses.  We did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, 
as defined above. 
 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of County Commissioners, 
management, others within the entity, Federal awarding agencies and pass-through entities and is not 
intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than those specified parties. 

 
Cheyenne, Wyoming 
January 29, 2013 
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I. SUMMARY OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S RESULTS 
 

A. Financial Statements 
 

Type of auditor’s report issued:   Unqualified 
 
Internal control over financial reporting: 
 
 Material weaknesses identified?        X      Yes               No 
 Significant deficiencies identified that are  

not considered to be material weaknesses?                 Yes       X      None reported 
 
Noncompliance material to financial  
   statements noted?          X      Yes               No 
 

B. Federal Awards 
 

Internal control over major programs: 
 

 Material weaknesses identified?                  Yes       X      No 
 Significant deficiencies identified that are  

not considered to be material weaknesses?                 Yes       X      None reported 
 

Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major programs:  Unqualified 
 

 Any audit findings disclosed that are 
required to be reported in accordance 
with Section 510(a) of Circular A-133?                 Yes        X      No 

 
Identification of major programs: 

 
CFDA Numbers Name of Federal Program or Cluster 

  
11.555 Public Safety Interoperable Communications 
15.226 Payments in Lieu of Taxes 
20.205 Highway Planning and Construction 

ARRA-81.041 State Energy Program - Recovery Act 
93.558 Temporary Assistance for Needy Families 

 
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between 
    Type A and Type B programs:   $  300,000   
 
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?                 Yes       X      No 
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II. FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS  
 

2012-01:  Audit Adjustments 
 
Condition:  As part of our audit, significant adjustments were proposed and recorded in order to 
properly state the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America (GAAP).  
 
Criteria:  Under professional standards, the control deficiency exists as County personnel did not 
identify the adjusting journal entries, which were significant to the County’s financial statements 
prepared in accordance with GAAP.    
 
Cause:  The County recently hired an Accounting Manager with experience in financial 
statements prepared in accordance with GAAP. However, due to time limitations expressed by 
the Accounting Manager in preparing the financial statements for the audit, all necessary 
adjustments were not identified.  
 
Effect:  Significant adjustments identified during the audit included, but were not limited to: 

 Recognizing cash and revenue in the CDC Tax Fund relating to additional collections of 
the one percent specific purpose sales and use excise tax. 

 Properly recording additions and deletions of property and equipment. 

 Accruing retainage payable and other liabilities.   
 
Recommendation:  We recommend the County establish policies and procedures to ensure that 
complete and accurate information is available in a timely manner to properly record 
transactions in accordance with GAAP.  These policies and procedures would include processes 
to ensure that all financial statement balances are properly supported by accurate records, 
balances are adjusted to the proper amounts, and reconciliations are performed as necessary. 
 
Auditee response:  The Accounting Manager will be involved in establishing policies and 
procedures to ensure that complete and accurate information is available to properly record 
transactions in accordance with GAAP. 
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2012-02:  Segregation of Duties 
 
Condition:  During the course of our audit, we noted several instances where there is not an 
adequate segregation of duties.  At the County, we noted that one individual has authority to 
write checks and post journal entries. Several employees have access to the check printer, check 
stock, printed checks and the payroll and accounts payable system.  The purchasing department 
has the authority to authorize and create new vendors within the accounting system, enter 
invoices, and authorize all disposals. We also noted that several employees have the ability to 
request goods or services and also have the ability to approve the payment of those same goods 
or services. 
 
At the component unit level, we noted a segregation of duties issue as well.  The Sweetwater 
County Museum and Sweetwater County Recreation Board are not large enough to permit an 
adequate segregation of duties for an effective system of internal accounting control in all 
respects.   
 
Criteria:  Internal controls are designed to safeguard assets and help prevent loss from employee 
dishonesty or error.  A fundamental concept in an adequate system of internal control is the 
segregation of duties.   
 
Cause:  The concentration of closely related duties and responsibilities by a small staff makes it 
difficult to establish an adequate system of internal checks on the accuracy and reliability of the 
accounting records.  While we recognize the Museum and Recreation Board are not large 
enough to permit a segregation of duties for an effective system of internal accounting control, 
we believe that it is important that officials be aware that the condition does exist.  
 
Effect:  Without properly designed internal control systems, the County could be susceptible to 
misappropriation of assets (theft of money) and/or inaccurate financial reporting.     
 
Recommendation:  We recommend that current internal control policies and procedures be 
scrutinized to ensure that proper segregation is obtained when possible. 
 
Auditee response:  The County will analyze the procedures in place and will develop and 
implement new internal control policies and procedures to better segregate duties. 
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2012-03:  Journal Entries 
 
Condition:  During the year ended June 30, 2012, the County did not have a review process in 
place over journal entries that are posted to the accounting system. On June 30, 2012, the County 
implemented a review process over journal entries. However, the personnel responsible for 
performing the review also have the authority to initiate and record journal entries. In addition, 
the County does not have a control system in place to identify journal entries that are posted to 
the accounting system outside the normal course of business.  
 
Criteria:  The County should have a control system that allows them to monitor journal entries 
that are posted to the system to ensure the propriety of all entries for the entire fiscal year.  In 
addition, the control system should include adequate segregation of duties to ensure any journal 
entries initiated and recorded by the individual responsible for reviewing journal entries are 
reviewed by another individual.   
 
Cause:  The County did not establish a control system to monitor journal entries for the entire 
fiscal year. In addition, the review process implemented at year end does not adequately 
segregate duties for the individual performing the review. 
 
Effect:  The inability to identify journal entries outside the normal course of business as well as 
the lack of an adequate review process prevents the County from appropriately monitoring 
adjustments that are made to the financial statements throughout the year.   
 
Recommendation:  We recommend the County develop and implement policies to track journal 
entries outside the normal course of business and scrutinize current internal control policies and 
procedures to ensure that proper segregation is obtained when possible. 
 
Auditee response:  On June 30, 2012, the County implemented a review process and a control 
system to prepare, review, and monitor journal entries posted to the accounting system.  The 
County will further analyze these procedures and will develop and implement additional policies 
and procedures to better segregate duties. 
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2012-04:  Budgetary Compliance 
 
Condition:  During fiscal year 2012, the Events Complex requested additional funding of 
$1,200,000 from the County.  The Commissioners approved this request and amended the 
County’s budget to allow for the additional spending.  The Events Complex Board amended its 
budget to allow for the spending of additional funding.  However, the County did not officially 
approve the Events Complex amended budget.   
 
Criteria:  State statute 16-4-111(c) Adoption of Budget states “Boards, the members of which 
are appointed by the county commissioners, shall expend funds only as authorized by the 
approved budget unless a departure from the budget is authorized by the board of county 
commissioners.”  
 
Cause:  The County Commissioners believed that by approving the Events Complex request for 
funds they were approving the change to the Events Complex budget. 
 
Effect:  See condition. 
 
Recommendation:  We recommend that when the component units of the County amend their 
budget to increase their spending authority they have the County Commissioners approve their 
budget amendment as well. 
 
Auditee Response:  The Board of County Commissioners shall approve all necessary budget 
amendments for component units as per State statute 16-4-111(c).   
 
All component units shall request budget amendments, prior to exceeding the budget. 

 
 

III. FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS FOR FEDERAL AWARDS 
 

None 
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There were no Federal audit findings in the prior year. 
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